
City of Swartz Creek 
AGENDA 

Regular Council Meeting, Monday, May 23, 2016, 7:00 P.M. 
Paul D. Bueche Municipal Building, 8083 Civic Drive Swartz Creek, Michigan 48473 

1. CALL TO ORDER:

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:

3. ROLL CALL:

4. MOTION TO APPROVE MINUTES:
4A. Council Meeting of May 9, 2016 MOTION Pg. 32 

5. APPROVE AGENDA:
5A. Proposed / Amended Agenda MOTION Pg. 1 

6. REPORTS & COMMUNICATIONS:
6A. City Manager’s Report MOTION Pg. 2 
6B. Salt Bids (Business Item) Pg. 47 
6C. Utility Rate Explanation (Business Item)  Pg. 48 
6D. Verizon Lease Extension Offer & Original Contract (Business Item) Pg. 50 
6E. Sunoco Gas Station Bids & Specifications (Business Item)  Pg. 91 
8F. Current Swartz Creek – Clayton Township Fire Department Agreement Pg. 104 
8G. Winchester Woods Grading Bids (Business Item) Pg. 114 
8H. May DDA, ZBA, and Planning Commission Minutes Pg. 118 
8I. Elms Park Bathroom Bids (Business Item) Pg. 129 
8J. Flint Syndrome News Editorial & KWA Flint Stance News Pg. 132 
8K. Budget Summary (Business Item) Pg. 140 
8L. Consumers Energy Notices Pg. 149 

7. MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC:
7A. General Public Comments

8. COUNCIL BUSINESS:
8A. Salt Bids RESO  Pg. 16 
8B. Utility Rate Adjustments  RESO  Pg. 17 
8C. Fiscal Year 2017 Budget Public Hearing 
8D. Verizon Tower Lease Extension  DISC 
8E. Medical Marijuana Zoning Ordinance Amendment RESO  Pg. 26 
8F. Sunoco Gas Station Demolition  RESO  Pg. 28 
8G. Building Services Service Provision DISC  
8H. Winchester Woods Street Grading RESO Pg. 29 
8I. Street Project Selection Committee Nominations  RESO Pg. 30 
8J. Elms Park Bathroom Bids RESO Pg. 31 

10. MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC:

11. REMARKS BY COUNCILMEMBERS:

12. ADJOURNMENT: MOTION 

Next Month Calendar   Offices Closed on Monday, May 30, 2016 (Memorial Day) 
Police Authority:  Wednesday, May 25, 2016, 10:00 a.m., PDBMB 
Park Board:  Wednesday, June 1, 2016, 6:00 p.m., PDBMB   
Planning Commission:   Tuesday, June 7, 2016, 7:00 p.m., PDBMB 
Downtown Development Authority: Thursday, June 9, 2016, 7:00 p.m., PDBMB  
City Council:   Monday, June 13, 2016, 7:00 p.m., PDBMB 
Fire Board:  Monday, June 20, 2016, 6:00 p.m., Public Safety Building 
City Council:   Monday, June 27, 2016, 7:00 p.m., PDBMB   

City Council Packet 1 May 23, 2016



City of Swartz Creek 
CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

Regular Council Meeting of Monday, May 23, 2016 - 7:00 P.M. 

TO: Honorable Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tem & Council Members 
FROM: Adam Zettel, City Manager 
DATE: May 19, 2016 

ROUTINE BUSINESS – REVISITED ISSUES / PROJECTS 

 OUTSTANDING APPEALS (No Change of Status)
The Genesee Valley Meadows Golf Course is under agreement for an appraisal. This 
is due for a hearing by the Michigan Tax Tribunal in June.  

For now, our assessor recommends we hold position on the raceway and mini-
storage. Staff has settled negotiated appeals for El Portrero and the Carriage Plaza 
that the assessor found reasonable upon submission of a privately funded appeal. A 
complete listing of outstanding appeals is as follows: 

2015 58-32-100-004 15-002500 Shkreli Investments Fred Gordon 286,600     286,600  50,000       50,000       answered 6/16/15 Gen Valley Golf
Assessment appears fair - recommend getting an appraisal

2015 58-35-576-039 15-002131 CenterpiecePlaza Laura Hallahan 182,600     181,762  110,000    110,000    answered 6/9/15 8048 Miller
2015 58-35-576-040 15-002131 CenterpiecePlaza Laura Hallahan 21,900        19,778     15,000       15,000       answered 6/9/15 8048 Miller

Assessment appears fair - attorney to file interogatores to get leases, income and expenses statements for potential appraisal

2015 58-35-400-001 15-001904 Sports Creek Michael Shapiro 1,207,400  918,667  500,000    500,000    answered 6/9/15 Raceway
Hold for now - Assessor to acquire more information

2015 58-02-200-033 15-002502 Nemer Enterprises Kal Nemer 293,400     196,940  190,000    190,000    answered 6/16/15 Morrish Rd office
Attorney to filed interogatores to get leases, income and expenses statements for potential appraisal

2015 58-02-200-029 15-002787 S.C. Mini Storage Steve Johnson 765,300     765,300  550,000    550,000    answered 8/4/15 Storage (Morrish)
Assessment appears fair - pending further deliberation

Current 
Assessed

Current 
Taxable

Proposed 
Assessed

Proposed 
Taxable Status NotesYear Parcel # Docket # Owner

Petitioner's 
Representative

 STREETS (See Individual Category)

 MORRISH AND BRISTOL SIGNAL (Update)
Clayton Township tabled this matter again at their May 12, 2016 board meeting. I
spoke to the supervisor the next day. He desires one more attempt with the
township board to come to some agreement that would result in the three party
participation into the installation of a signal.  If this does not work, we will need to
work with the GCRC for a two party solution, if such a solution is available at all.

We had a follow up meeting this week, and I am actually quite optimistic that the
township desires to work with the city, not only on this feature, but on better
cooperative planning and general relationships.

City Council Packet 2 May 23, 2016



The Genesee County Road Commission projects the signal cost to be about 
$36,000.  The city’s baseline share is 25%, but this could vary depending on 
negotiations and Meijer’s contribution.  
 

 2017-2020 TRAFFIC IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (TIP) (No Change of Status) 
The three year plan for street funding has been drafted by the county, and the city 
has committed to a 20% match for those streets that were awarded funding.  
 
Please note that the area of Worchester that is tentatively funded is only the section 
between Winston and Cappy Lane. While this is a small section only, the extra 
funds will doubtlessly help with the planned reconstruction. Unfortunately, if we 
desire the federal funds, we must wait until next year, at the soonest, to commence 
work.  
 
Listed below are the portions selected for federal funding, which include: 

 MORRISH ROAD CLASSIFICATION-BRIDGE CAPACITY (No Change of Status) 
Morrish Road has been submitted for classification as a “minor arterial” from a 
“major collector”.  The MDOT approved the change. Now we await review by the 
Federal Highway Administration sometime this calendar year.  
 

 CONCRETE REPAIR PROJECT (Update) 
The Miller Road and Natalie Drive repairs are under contract, and repairs are in 
progress for Natalie Drive. I will keep the city council informed of the progress.  
 

 SIGNAL PHASING STUDY FOR MILLER AND MORRISH (Update) 
OHM indicates that Genesee County updated the signal to incorporate timing 
(phasing) recommendations that the study recommended. Let me know if you notice 
a difference.  
 
At this point, there will be marginal benefit, but the study did leave us better 
informed for future decision making related to this interchange. We do have other 
options at our disposal, but they are more costly.  
 
Andy Harris, from OHM, will validate the changes the next time he is in town. If 
there are no more comments or concerns, I will look to remove this item from future 
reports.  
 

 YARMY & PARKRIDGE ROAD WORK  (Update) 
The rehabilitation of Yarmy and surface treatment for Parkridge has been awarded 
by the city council. We await execution of the contracts and subsequent scheduling. 

Road 
Point of 

Beginning 
Point of 

End 
Length 
(Miles) Lanes 

Lane 
Feet 

Width 
(Feet) ADT 

Total 
Cost 

Federal 
Match 

Local 
Match 

Worchester Cappy Winston 0.1 2 1056 28 691 $172,474 $137,979 $34,495 
Fairchild Cappy Miller 0.28 2 2956.8 44 2456 $305,104 $247,234 $61,021 

       

Cost 
Totals: $477,578 $385,213 $92,365 

            
     

City Council Packet 3 May 23, 2016



A preconstruction meeting is scheduled for May 23. I will keep the city council 
informed. 

 
 2016 STREET BIDS-SCRAP TIRE GRANT (No Change of Status) 

Kennedy has been chosen as the contractor to repair the intersections of Fairchild-
Miller and Winston-Miller, including the Winston watermain. The contract has been 
executed. We expect the work to start after school lets out.  
 

 WATER – SEWER ISSUES PENDING (See Individual Category) 
 SEWER REHABILITATION PROGRAM (No Change of Status) 

Liqui-Force has just completed the 2015 projects in the Village. We did not 
encounter any major issues or change orders. Tom will await a final debriefing 
before final billing. If all goes well, we will look to begin the next phase of televising 
very soon.  
 

 WATER RATES (Business Item) 
Staff has come up with a plan to adjust rates based upon the expected water rate 
increase. Adjustments were made to accommodate the new commodity charge, as 
well as the need to re-establish capital improvement monies that have been 
encumbered by previously unconsidered rate increases.  
 
Lastly, the sewer rate was adjusted based upon changes to the sewer expenses 
and overall reductions in current operational & capital needs. In both cases, the 
readiness to serve charge decreased and the commodity charge increased. The 
proposed rates are as follows: 
 

Water 
    

 
Readiness to Serve Charge $51.22 

 
Consumption (per 100 cf) $7.07 

          Sewer 
    

 
Metered Customers 

 
 

Readiness to Serve Charge/Unit $52.50 

 
Consumption (per 100 cf) $2.14 

     
 

Non-Metered Customers 
 

 
Sewer Readiness & Consumption/Unit $124.61 

  
The impact of this overall utility rate adjustment is mixed. However, only users with 
very low consumption will see decreases in their bills. Due to the scale of the water 
rate increase, most users will see overall increases despite changes to the sewer 
rate. On the bright side, the increases should be less than the rate of the commodity 
increase from the Great Lakes Water Authority. Examples of combined bills are 
below: 
 
Single Sewer REU Bills (Residential users) 
500 cubic feet per quarter    = $149.79 (-0.29%) 
1,000 cubic feet per quarter = $195.85 (+3.39%) 

City Council Packet 4 May 23, 2016



1,500 cubic feet per quarter = $241.91 (+5.81%) 
2,000 cubic feet per quarter = $287.98 (+7.52%) 
2,500 cubic feet per quarter = $334.04 (+8.8%) 
 
Example of 10 Sewer REU Bills (Assuming 1” water meter) 
2,500 cubic feet per quarter   = $806.57    (-3.61%) 
5,000 cubic feet per quarter   = $1,036.89 (+0.40%) 
10,000 cubic feet per quarter = $1,497.52 (+5.11%) 
15,000 cubic feet per quarter = $1,958.16 (+7.78%) 
20,000 cubic feet per quarter = $2,418.79 (+9.51%) 
 
I have included the standard resolution to alter rates and fees, with the proposed 
changes highlighted. I recommend we move forward. I certainly do not believe the 
water fund can absorb this commodity increase without passing that increase 
through. I also believe that this is the right time to revisit the sewer rate, which will 
result in savings to many users for this service. Combined with the water rate 
changes, it certainly will soften the blow. The previous report on the matter is as 
follows: 
 
The Great Lakes Water Authority (GLWA) has increased rates to the city’s water 
supplier, the Genesee County Drain Commission (GCDC).  In turn, the GCDC is 
proposing to increase the cost of the water commodity from $5.13 to $5.57, effective 
September 2, 2016. This is an increase of 8.6%.  We need to determine a course of 
action that will be implemented for our September billing. In order to effect this 
change with enough fair notice to consumers, we should make a decision in early 
June so we can place notice on the July water bills.  
 
At this point, I am requesting some input from the city council on the general 
approach to this matter. As in the past, we have a standard set of options available 
that can always be supplemented with new ideas or other notions.  
 
Option one: If the city does nothing, we stand to lose and estimated $126,460 from 
the water fund each year based upon this change.  
 
Option two: If we pass the cost of the rate along, we will see an increase of $0.55 
from $5.93 to $6.48 (the larger figure is due to unmetered water losses observed 
from breaks, fire flows, hydrant flushing, leaks, inaccurate meters, and theft).  This 
change will maintain the status quo. This would be an increase of about 6.2% for a 
customer using 1,500 cubic feet. 
 
Option three: The city can reconfigure the rate to account for anticipated capital 
projects/depreciation. What does this mean? It means that the status quo currently 
does not provide for covering the capital improvement needs of the city. We have 
been attempting to build this into the fund for some time, but the massive 
commodity increases from GLWA have cut into this year in and year out.  
 
At this point, the fund provides virtually no revenues for replacement watermain 
projects (Worchester and Miller Road watermain to name just a couple). While we 
hope the KWA provides rate stability (perhaps even some savings) I am not sure we 

City Council Packet 5 May 23, 2016



can effectively continue to lose money in this fund as wear and tear become more 
evident in the system. As such, this third option would be to pass the GLWA rate 
along with enough wiggle room to begin completing projects or saving for future 
projects. A straight line depreciation of existing infrastructure, assuming a 60 year 
life, is about $300,000 per year for reinvestment into the system.  
 
In the past, we have generally gone with options one or two.  Despite the hardship 
on rate payers, the council may need to consider this option so that we don’t end up 
in another situation like the community did with the roads. Fortunately, this should 
not require a dramatic change to the way we do business, since the figure is not that 
high. If the council is interested, I can bring back an option at the May 23 meeting.  
 
An initial hip-shot on what it would take to fund a respectable capital improvement 
program based upon prior year numbers is 16-20% to water rates (based upon 
1,500 cubic feet). This would include the rate increase from the county as well and 
would translate to an 11.4% increase for a water/sewer utility bill.  This last point is 
an important one.  
 
While water rates from GLWA have been unreasonable, the county has been very 
fair and stable with their sewer rates. Based upon prior actions of the council, our 
sewer budget is much more efficient than it used to be. Why does this matter? It 
matters because we may be in a position to lower sewer rates once the lift station is 
completed.  
 
As such, I am hopeful that we can evaluate the entire rate system for water and 
sewer combined instead of focusing on water only. If we are fortunate, we may be 
able to see a decrease in sewer of >3-5% based upon prior years’ performance and 
the need for ongoing investment. This would allow the community to invest more in 
water without creating an unnecessary burden for rate payers.  
 

 KWA (Update) 
The KWA is under budget and ahead of schedule. Despite that, Flint may be 
considering conversations with the Great Lakes Water Authority for future service. 
Flint signed on to the KWA as the largest customer in 2013. Now they may be 
looking to ignore that commitment. The ramifications to the KWA are unclear. I have 
attached an article that discussed the matter. 
 

 WATER LOSS (Update) 
The current rate calculation worksheets place water loss at about 18%. This is 
consistent from previous accountings, and it is still high. The county agrees and is 
evaluating their master meters more thoroughly.  
 
Mr. Svrcek believes that recent corrections to the billing system are resulting in 
additional savings that have yet to be measured based upon the annual water loss 
review.  (The last quarter is about 1.3% lower). We will obviously continue to 
monitor this. 10-12% is the target range for the time being. This rate is generally 
accepted to account for hydrant use (flushing, training, fire flows), leaks, breaks, 
and theft. If we cannot achieve this target by the next evaluation, we will likely look 
to engage in hydrogen infusion leak detection.  

City Council Packet 6 May 23, 2016



 
In the meantime, we continue to evaluate master meter and retail billing. We are 
also physically searching for breaks that may be currently undetected due to their 
proximity to a storm drain or water body (Swartz Creek).  
 
Note that water loss is difficult to monitor because, unlike systems that pressurize 
their own systems, we can only track usage on the quarterly basis in which we bill 
customers. Because this process can take a week, we generally require an annual 
review to lessen the impact of the extended reading period. 
 

 CIVIC CAMPUS TREES (Update)  
The city has contacted the Fine Arts Association since they have a vested interest in 
the trees surrounding the pavilion. They see no issues with the city’s intention to trim 
trees and provide other treatments. As such, fertilization has been completed already 
by city staff. Tom Svrcek will also be adding mulch using staff. The tree removals for 
those Austrian and Norway pines that require it will be done by a contractor, as will the 
high limb removal in the Scots pine grove.  
 
Mari-Dan was questioning ownership of all pines and the location of the property line. 
Based upon aerial imagery, the pines all appear to be on city property. I don’t think this 
is worth doing a survey on to determine who should cut these down. I maintain that 
they are the city’s, but I will notify the council if this is not resolved administratively. 

 
 SHARED SERVICES, POLICE DEPARTMENTS (No Change of Status) 

A meeting was held on Wednesday, April 27, 2016 at 10:00 a.m. at the Mundy 
Township Office.  Minutes from the meeting not yet complete. Big issues continue to be 
the consideration of retirement benefits for employees that transfer to the authority, as 
well as the labor negotiations. However, progress is being made. 
 
Due to the speed of negotiations and the impact that will have on drafting a budget and 
operational plan, Chairman Porath suggested two meetings a month. No additional 
meetings have been set, but this is a strong possibility.  
 
Other major components that are outstanding include the asset transfer list, building 
accommodation plans, and administrative staffing.  
 
The next meeting is scheduled for 10:00 a.m., May 25, 2016 at the Paul D. Bueche 
Municipal Building. 
 

 SPRINGBROOK EAST & HERITAGE VACANT LOTS (No Change of Status) 
The lighting plan has been approved and funds received by the developer to support 
this. The developer has also placed funds into escrow to fund the remaining items on 
the punch list, including curb backfill on Russell and sidewalk work.  As such, the 
escrow requirement has been deemed fulfilled on the remaining lots. 
 
Ten of the twelve lots in Springbrook East have sold. I expect the other two to sell in the 
coming months so we can put this whole matter behind us. 
 

City Council Packet 7 May 23, 2016



The city still owns four lots in Heritage Village. We have no plan for these at this time. 
Perhaps an auction of these lots is in order. In this case, I am not sure if there was an 
intention to share additional revenues with the association or not. The city sold one lot 
in 2014 “at cost.” Purchase agreements with other buyers fell through.  
 

 MEIJER COMMUNITY DONATION (No Change of Status) 
We have a recommendation to honor the Meijer donation for the Fortino Drive sidewalk 
at a Tuesday night concert. This appeared to be well received by the council.  Any 
additional thoughts?   

 
 WINCHESTER WOODS LOTS (Business Item) 

The planning commission considered this issue as a component of the current master 
plan amendment.  The consensus is that the city should lead the effort to make the 
area conducive on the construction of single family homes in accordance with the 
original plat. At a minimum, the city has a responsibility to keep the public streets in the 
undeveloped portion of this subdivision passable. Again, this is not vacant land that 
COULD be a subdivision. This IS a platted subdivision in which many lot owners have 
a reasonable expectation to access, use, and construction a home upon.  
 
To make the area usable will require engineered drainage, a section of new sanitary 
sewer, and some fill/grading to the roads. Previously, the city considered assessing 
costs for full depth construction of roads, curb, sewer, sidewalks, and street lighting. 
This has been revisited and found to be too much investment for two reasons: the cost 
was too high, and the residents (lot owners) prefer the rustic conditions such as those 
on the unimproved section of Oakview Drive.  
 
As a first step, Mr. Svrcek has been looking into making the unimproved roads (paths) 
in Winchester Woods passable. The apparent solution is to contract services to have 
the left over asphalt millings from the Miller Road project graded into place.  This could 
function as a permanent solution to one of the issues that make this platted subdivision 
unusable (the other two issues being a missing segment of sanitary sewer and surface 
drainage). Again, asphalt millings suffice on Oakview, so they could here as well.  
 
Having a good road base in place is the first step to gaining reasonable access for 
conducting additional improvements. In some cases, this may be all that is required. 
However, I suspect we will need to work with Gaines Township to come up with an 
area-wide surface water management plan.  
 
In the meantime, Mr. Svrcek solicited sealed bids for the placement of our millings. He 
only received one bid, but it is a qualified one. The intent would be to expend dollars 
from the general fund and recover incurred costs through the sale of the newly 
acquired parcels that the city owns in this platted subdivision. We many need to be a 
bit patient to recover these costs, but I am confident that it will occur. 
 
I have included a resolution to approve this work. It won’t hurt my feelings any if the 
council desires more time to consider the matter or seek other solutions. However, I do 
support this phase of work as bid. I believe we need to make the roads usable quickly, 
and this is not a bad solution/price to get a solid base on the ground. 
 

City Council Packet 8 May 23, 2016



 NEWSLETTER (No Change of Status) 
The newsletter has been distributed. Let me know what you think. 
 

 MEDICAL MARIJUANA MORATORIUM (Business Item) 
This matter was discussed in detail by the Planning Commission at their meeting on 
May 3rd. Based upon prior discussions with the city attorney, it appears options are 
limited. This is a two-way street. He indicates that commercial dispensaries are not yet 
admissible by the state law in any form he has seen proposed. However, he also 
believes that the city is going to be limited in what can be done to limit growing in 
homes within the limits set by the statute (12 plants for an individual and 72 for a 
caregiver).  
 
To serve both the rights of growers and the needs of neighborhoods, the commission is 
advocating a position that growing in homes be limited to an individual. As a relief 
valve, they recommend expanding the growing facility provisions to allow for growing 
for two or more people in light industrial districts, as well as heavy industrial districts.  
 
A public hearing was held by the planning commission on May 3rd to discuss these 
matters. Some comments were provided. The commission ultimately resolved to 
amend the ordinance to allow industrial growing facilities as a special land use in light 
and heavy industrial districts. This expands the provision somewhat. They also 
recommend that a provision be added to control odors for such facilities as an added 
condition of approval/performance.  
 
Based upon the deliberation from the April meeting, the commission is recommending 
no further changes to home growing operations or the dispensary provisions at this 
time.  
 
I have drafted an ordinance amendment that reflects all of the planning commission’s 
recommendations. It is included for discussion and resolution in this meeting packet. 
 

 CAPPY LANE LIFT STATION (No Change of Status) 
RBF Construction has been selected to complete this work. I will keep the city council 
advised on the timeline. We will likely wait until late summer to ensure lower flows on 
water that may inflow or infiltrate into the sewer system. Doing so will lower the risk of 
complications during a time in which not all pumps will be operational. 
 

 SUNOCO (Business Item) 
The bids for the Sunoco are in. There were six bids, and they ranged dramatically. 
Much of this deviation was due to “additional items”, some of which were 
environmentally driven and outside the scope of our project. After evaluating the bids, 
some proposals clearly provided higher levels of detail. However, all six companies 
appear qualified for the demolition component and have staff or subcontractors that are 
qualified for the tank removals.  
 
Yet again, RBF Construction has the low bid, with is about 18% lower than the 
consultant estimate. Their bid was $26,000. Most bids fell between the mid-thirties and 
mid-forties. The high bid was $92,850, with $66,000 set aside just for the tank removal. 
In vetting these bids and the contractors, I have consulted with Applied Ecosystems, 

City Council Packet 9 May 23, 2016



the environmental service company that provided the city with the Baseline 
Environmental Assessment in 2015. Though the low bid of $26,000 does not leave 
much room for error, I see no reason to pass on this bid by disqualifying the contractor.  
 
I have included a resolution to approve this bid. The resolution contains language to 
account for expenses, with the intention of using DDA money and the state grant to 
reimburse all demolition and tank removal expenses. However, I recommend we cover 
our environmental butt and retain Applied Ecosystems for onsite observation, 
recording, and regulatory compliance. This will ensure the job is done correctly, 
materials disposed of properly, and reports filed timely. This is not a reimbursable 
expense and will be borne by the general fund. Mr. Smith, from Applied Ecosystems, 
indicates that this will be about $1,000 worth of work, but he is asking for a $2,500 “do 
not exceed” cost in case we encounter any issues. I will have a written proposal to 
substantiate this by Monday. 
 
Note that unforeseen issues that are large in scope or scale may still require a general 
fund allocation, should the city need/choose to engage in additional work items! I don’t 
expect this, but it is always a possibility when engaging in environmentally sensitive 
areas. 
 
If the council approves the award and consultant fees, the work should begin after the 
Hometown Days Festival. 
 

 ELMS PARK RENOVATIONS (Business Item)  
The restroom bids are in. The low bid is from Oak Construction and is $36,783, with 
upgrades to the interior wall covering. This is below the initial estimate of $41,500, and 
Oak Construction Corporation has reputable experience with exactly these types of 
projects.  
 
This component was bid separately from the rest of the project in order to have the 
bathrooms ready for use mid-summer. The rest of the work, inclusive of the walkways, 
should occur in September of this year.  The Kiwanis Club is seeking an additional 
grant in the amount of $10,000 to contribute to this cause.  
 
I am pleased with this bid and have included a resolution that will enable us to move 
forward as quickly as possible.  
 
The dog park has been approved. The park board will be addressing operating 
rules/guidelines for this facility this summer. In the meantime, we await progress by the 
scouts. 

 
 FINANCE DIRECTOR DUTIES (No Change of Status) 

Ms. Aguilar has not further specified a retirement date, though she indicated it would be 
in late 2016.  We are moving forward with structuring the office duties with this 
knowledge.  
 

 MASTER PLAN (Update) 
The Master Plan was approved. Once I collect all of the necessary signatures, we shall 
begin distribution. 

City Council Packet 10 May 23, 2016



 
 OTHER COMMUNICATIONS & HAPPENINGS (Update)  

 
 FLINT SYNDROME EDITORIAL (Update) 

This article paints a pretty accurate picture of how municipal finance in the State of 
Michigan is a systemic issue, very much tied to previous and current actions of the 
legislature. 
 

 CONSUMERS ENERGY HEARINGS (Update) 
Consumers has sent us notice of a pair of rate apportionment hearings. 
 

 BOARDS & COMMISSIONS (See Individual Category)  
 PLANNING COMMISSION (Update) 

The commission had their regular May meeting on the 3rd. The commission 
discussed medical marijuana matters and the master plan (see above).  The 
minutes are included in this packet. 
 

 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (Update) 
The board met on May 12, 2016. The board waived their rights to capture any street 
levy funds. This will ensure that the full amount goes to the street program.  The 
group also discussed their budget, deciding to release a solicitation for façade grant 
applications and to hold off on other spending as everyone awaits the Sunoco 
demolition bids.  The minutes are included in the packet.  
 

 ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (Update) 
The zoning board of appeals held their annual meeting on May 18th, 2016. The 
board held this meeting for training purposes only. The minutes are in the packet. 
 

 PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION  (Update) 
The tree donation is under way, as is fundraising for the tot-lot. Again, the board is 
planning a series of fundraisers, including a slip-n-slide day, a mom-to-mom sale, 
and a pumpkin sale. If you are interested in any of these, let Council Member Hicks 
know. See the section above on renovations for details about the DNR grant. 
 
Their next meeting is planned for Wednesday, June 1, 2016, at 6:00 p.m. 
 

 BOARD OF REVIEW  (No Change of Status) 
There are no meetings of the BoR planned at this time.  However, Robert Brown 
resigned his position with the BoR.  Since this board has an alternate position, that 
individual will serve in his place. However, a replacement regular or alternate 
member should be selected by July. 
 

NEW BUSINESS / PROJECTED ISSUES & PROJECTS 
 
 ROAD SALT APPROPRIATION (Business Item) 

Genesee County, with whom we have a cooperative purchasing agreement, has 
extended a contract with the Detroit Salt Company for the procurement of road salt for 
the next season. The price will decrease from the current $59.83 to $59.33 per ton.  It 

City Council Packet 11 May 23, 2016



is good to see some savings here, especially considering the spike in prices from a 
year ago that resulted in the observation of some pricing near $100/ton.  
 
The reason we choose to piggy-back with the county is because of their purchasing 
power. The cooperative bid includes nine different entities that use approximately 
100,000 tons of salt each year collectively. Our city uses about 1,000 tons a year, and 
there is no practical way we could bid or negotiate such a deal on our own. A resolution 
is included that enables this purchase. 
 

 BUDGET HEARING (Business Item) 
Juanita and Deanna have been continuing work on the budget. There are some 
obvious changes in the most recent edition in comparison to what the council received 
in April. The biggest adjustment is the inclusion of a new fund, Fund 204, the Municipal 
Street Fund.  This is the result of the approved levy. Juanita has also included an 
additional summary of the budget and recent changes. Other adjustments were minor. 
 
In addition, we have been working on providing additional tools to assist the city council 
and public in reviewing the budget. The result is a new fund balance detail, which 
includes draft fund balance expectations (e.g. how much money should we aim to keep 
in the bank).  
 
We also created some fund and departmental cover sheets. I expect to have these to 
the council separately before the meeting. These sheets are intended to provide a 
single page explanation of how the budget translates to service expectations, staffing, 
and operational priorities for departments in the general fund and the other funds. In 
other words, we hope stakeholders can look at one and easily understand where the 
money goes and what services that investment provides. In the future, I intend to 
incorporate these sheets directly into the budget along with additional visual aids for 
revenue, expense, fund balance, and related budget attributes.  
 
In related news, the state forecasts for revenues are down (due to reductions in sales 
tax, gas tax, and corporate tax collections). So far, statements support continued 
spending for infrastructure and services, but I worry about the promises to increase 
road funding and the level of revenue sharing, especially with the Detroit Public 
Schools and Flint City water crisis needs.  
 

 VERIZON TOWER (Business Item) 
The city council may recall the lease extension that the city did for Crown Castle in 
2015. This was for the site lease on Civic Drive for a communications tower.  The lease 
was requesting a thirty year extension in exchange for additional rents and a lump sum.  
The idea is that they can convince others to collocate on existing facilities if they can 
show a long term option to use the space. The council reviewed this in many forms 
before agreeing. Ultimately, it was discovered to be worth it, despite the extension 
through 2065. 
 
Verizon submitted a formal offer to engage in a similar arrangement. They hold an older 
lease (1997) on Elms Road, south of Miller. The city owns this small sliver of property 
and has dedicated its use to Verizon for the same type of cellular coverage. They are 
now interested in a 30 year extension as well (six terms of five years). Their offer is 

City Council Packet 12 May 23, 2016



simpler. If the term is extended, rents and increases in rent will continue as before. 
They are also offering a lump sum payment.  
 
The agreement is attached for the city council to review and comment on. I am not 
expecting a decision at this meeting. However, I definitely think we should work 
something out. Investments in these towers are expensive and many providers are now 
teaming up to share fixed costs. This means that they want the security of a good 
location for a longer period of time to protect leases and equipment investments. Since 
this sit does not have much value, I recommend accepting some form of this 
agreement. We have obvious options of accepting, denying, or counteroffering 
(increased offers or alternate terms). 
 
I have included the original agreement and the new offer. The location is as follows: 
 

 
(Note that the corporation names, inclusive of their various “doing business as” [d/b/a] 
titles change constantly. Rest assured, we are dealing with the same entity, as legally 
assigned, throughout the evolution of these various agreements and offers). 
 

 BUILDING SERVICES (Business Item) 
Marty Johnson, our building official has left Mundy Township and begun employment 
with Durand. Mundy is still providing full services per our agreement. Our building 
official is now Dennis Smith, an employee of Safebuilt.  On an interim basis, this 
appears to be working. Moving forward, we will need to consider remaining with Mundy 
Township or not, depending on how they intend to provide the service.  
 

City Council Packet 13 May 23, 2016



I met with Supervisor Dave Guigear on a few occasions, and it appears they intend to 
use Safebuilt only on an interim basis until they fill the staff position with a full time 
employee or otherwise decide to restructure their own workforce. The township is 
actively seeking to fill this position.  In the meantime, the township will honor our 
agreement, including pricing, though the contracted services are likely to exceed our 
contributions. They have been very attentive to our building and code enforcement 
needs during this time of transition.  
 
In the meantime, I have been approached by Durand to consider sharing services with 
them. I should know more by the time we meet. I do not have more information at this 
time. I expect they would like to know if we will engage a similar contract with them to 
retain the continuity of service with Mr. Johnson. Obviously, Mundy Township is still 
able and willing to provide this service as well. There are up’s and down’s with either 
option, and the city has the option to go solo and provide this service directly. I will keep 
the city council informed as a learn more about Mundy’s process to fill the vacancy and 
Durand’s offer. 
 

 STREET PROJECT REVIEW COMMITTEE (Business Item) 
Included in the agenda is a resolution to appoint a committee to make 
recommendations to the city council regarding street maintenance, rehabilitation, and 
reconstruction. The intent is to mix staff knowledge with resident and elected official 
input to carry out the 20 year plan in annual installments.  As previously discussed, the 
committee would be provided the best revenue estimates, information related to 
borrowing, updated street condition information, and other data that will enable a 
detailed recommendation for engineering and construction over a floating period of 2-5 
years. The Mayor has a list of folks he would appoint to the 2016 committee.  
 

 FIRE SERVICES AGREEMENT (Update) 
The existing agreement for fire service expires on November 1, 2016. Since our 
respective municipalities are to begin the budgeting process before August, it makes 
sense to have this agreement revisited and agreed to by both municipalities prior to 
mid-summer.  
 
Supervisor Gehringer and I met on this matter on May 16th. We believe the agreement 
drafted by the prior administrations is sound, and we find the arrangement should 
continue in order to provide the joint fire service. Proposed changes that are likely 
include some additional language on budgeting considerations, definition of 
maintenance costs for buildings, and more clear guidance on the tracking of fixed 
assets.  
 
I believe the proposed changes address the needs of both municipalities. They should 
be mutually beneficial and serve to align the agreement with standing practices, 
especially the provision regarding charges for building maintenance. Currently, I am 
looking to word smith some of the changes and have them reviewed by Mr. Gehringer. 
Barring unforeseen circumstances, we should have an amended draft in June (with 
changes noted).  
 
At this time, I would like to hear any thoughts or comments of the council in relation to 
this service and the agreement that provides for this service. We all know that there 

City Council Packet 14 May 23, 2016



have been some bumps along the way related to the provision of this joint service, but I 
find the instrument that binds the city council and township board appropriate. 
However, if there are ideas on changes or additions that could improve the service, I 
can certainly look to address those in this round of negotiations. I have included a copy 
of the current agreement in the packet for reference.  
 

 LABOR AGREEMENTS (Update) 
All group labor agreements expire on June 30, 2016. The Police Officers Labor Council 
is choosing to wait with negotiations with the city, pending the negotiations with the 
police authority. I have had preliminary discussions with the American Federation of 
State and Municipal Employees group, and I hope to meet with the Supervisors soon 
as well. I hope to have agreements for another three years in front of the city council 
prior to July 1st for everyone except for POLC.  
 

Council Questions, Inquiries, Requests, Comments, and Notes    
   

Fortino Drive Light: The light is installed! 
Hometown Days Plans and Inspections: I have possession of the Hometown 
Days emergency plans. It was also affirmed that the State of Michigan does 
regulate and inspection attractions and rides at such festivals. 
Consumers Energy Infrastructure: I have reached out to the area liaison of 
Consumers Energy to establish a contact to coordinate our street and 
underground infrastructure plans. They have responded and put me in contact 
with appropriate area engineers. CMS now possesses a copy of our 
infrastructure plan, communications are open for ongoing coordination. Again, 
the idea is to avoid ripping up new infrastructure to get at old infrastructure.  
 

City Council Packet 15 May 23, 2016



 
City of Swartz Creek 

RESOLUTIONS  
Regular Council Meeting, Monday, May 23, 2016, 7:00 P.M. 

 
Resolution No. 160523-4A MINUTES – MAY 9, 2016 

 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
 
I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Minutes of the Regular Council 
Meeting held Monday, May 9, 2016, to be circulated and placed on file. 
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 
Voting For:_______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________  

 
Resolution No. 160523-5A AGENDA APPROVAL 

 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Agenda as presented / printed / 
amended for the Regular Council Meeting of May 23, 2016, to be circulated and 
placed on file. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 160523-6A CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council accept the City Manager’s Report of May 23, 
2016, including reports and communications, to be circulated and placed on file. 

  
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 160523-8A APPROPRIATION – BID AWARD, PURCHASE ROAD 

SALT 
 

 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
WHEREAS, the city finds it necessary to control ice and snow accumulation on public 
streets and parking areas with the application of road salt during winter months; and 
 

City Council Packet 16 May 23, 2016



WHEREAS, this process requires approximately 1,000 tons of rock salt during a winter 
season; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City’s Purchasing Ordinance, Chapter 2, Article VI, Section 2-406 
provides for and encourages cooperative government purchasing practices; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Genesee County Road Commission accepts and awards bids for the 
purchase of rock salt for application to public rights of way during those relentless and 
invasive Michigan winters; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Road Commission negotiated a salt price, with year over year 
decrease, with Detroit Salt Company of 12841 Sanders, Detroit, at a unit cost of 
$59.33 per ton, and a cooperative purchasing invitation has been extended to the City 
from the Genesee County Road Commission on May 3, 2016; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City finds the per-ton cost of $59.33 to be extremely competitive. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, I MOVE the City of Swartz Creek City accept the Genesee 
County Road Commission’s cooperative purchasing agreement and appropriate an 
amount not to exceed $59,330, plus 10% contingency, for the purchase of rock salt 
from the Detroit Salt Company, expenses to be distributed proportionate to use at the 
direction of the City’s Finance Director. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 160523-8B AMEND CITY-WIDE RATES, FEES AND CHARGES  
 

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the City collects rates, fees, fees for permits, charges for services, cost 
recovery’s and cost recovery for consulting services, and; 

 
WHEREAS, such rates, fees, fees for permits, charges for services, cost recovery’s 
and cost recovery for consulting services are a necessary and essential part of the 
funding for the services that the City provides, and: 

 
WHEREAS, the City’s Code of Ordinances defines and provides for certain rates, 
fees, fees for permits, charges for services, cost recovery’s and cost recovery for 
consulting services, and; 

 
WHEREAS, other such rates, fees, fees for permits, charges for services, cost 
recovery’s and cost recovery for consulting services are provided for by resolution of 
the City Council, statutory provision, past practice, policy and other such actions, and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has amended the City’s Code of Ordinances to provide for 
various rates, fees, fees for permits, charges for services, cost recovery’s and cost 
recovery for consulting services to be set by resolution of the City Council, and; 

 

City Council Packet 17 May 23, 2016



WHEREAS, the City has need to implement additional rates, fees, fees for permits, 
charges for services, cost recovery’s and cost recovery for consulting services to be 
set by resolution of the City Council, and; 

 
WHEREAS, the City desires to have all such rates, fees, fees for permits, charges for 
services, cost recovery’s and cost recovery for consulting services organized into a 
single resolution that can be visited periodically and adjusted accordingly. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, Be It Resolved the City of Swartz Creek hereby sets its rates, 
fees, fees for permits, charges for services, cost recovery’s and cost recovery for 
consulting services in accordance with the following schedule, effective immediately or 
as soon as practical thereafter, table as follows: 
 

CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK RATES, FEES PERMITS & CHARGES FOR SERVICES 
 

1. Chapter 1: Municipal Ordinance Violations Bureau (Parking Fines) 
 

The following parking violations shall be punishable by the fines indicated: 
 

             Offense           Fine 
 

(a)  Parking too far from curb       $ 20.00 
(b)  Angle parking violations          $ 20.00 
(c)  Obstructing traffic           $ 20.00 
 
Prohibited parking (signs un-necessary) 

          
(d)  On sidewalk        $ 20.00 
(e)  In front of drive        $ 20.00 
(f)  Within intersection       $ 20.00 
(g)  Within 15 feet of hydrant       $ 20.00 
(h)  On crosswalk        $ 20.00 
(i)  Within 20 feet of crosswalk or 15 feet of corner lot lines   $ 20.00 
(j)  Within 30 feet of street side traffic sign or signal    $ 20.00 
(k)  Within 50 feet of railroad crossing       $ 20.00 
(l)  Within 20 feet of fire station entrance      $ 20.00 
(m)  Within 75 feet of fire station entrance on opposite  

 side of street (signs required)       $ 20.00 
(n)  Beside street excavation when traffic obstructed    $ 20.00 
(o)  Double parking         $ 20.00 
(p)  On bridge of viaduct or within tunnel      $ 20.00 
(q)  Within 200 feet of accident where police in attendance   $ 20.00 
(r)  In front of theater          $ 20.00 
(s)  Blocking emergency exit       $ 20.00 
(t)  Blocking fire escape or fire lane       $ 50.00 
(u)  In a handicapped space       $100.00 
(v)  In prohibited zone (signs required)      $ 20.00 
(w)  In alley (signs required)       $ 20.00 

 
Parking for prohibited purpose   

 
(x)  Displaying vehicle for sale       $ 20.00 
(y)  Working or repairing vehicle       $ 20.00 
(z)  Displaying advertising        $ 20.00 
(aa)  Selling merchandise        $ 20.00 
(bb)  Storage over 48 hours        $ 20.00 

 

City Council Packet 18 May 23, 2016



(cc)  Wrong side boulevard roadway        $ 20.00 
(dd)  Loading zone violation        $ 20.00 
(ee)  Bus, parking other than bus stop      $ 20.00 
(ff)    Taxicab, parking other than cab stand       $ 20.00 
(gg)  Bus, taxicab stand violations          $ 20.00 
(hh)  Failure to set brakes          $ 20.00 
(ii)    Parked on grade wheels not turned to curb     $ 20.00 
(jj)    Parked on lawn extension within right of way    $ 20.00 
(kk)  Parked on front lawn       $ 20.00  
 
All $20.00 violations not paid within 20 days will be accessed a $10.00 late fee. 

 
2. Chapter 2: Liability for Expense of an Emergency Operation (Hazardous Materials Cleanup 

Cost Recovery) 
Cost shall be actual expenses inclusive of all Police & Fire Department wages, equipment and 
motor-pool and / or any sub-contracted actual expenses associated with hazardous materials clean-
up. 

 
3. Chapter 2: Liability for Expense of an Emergency Response (Alcohol Related Arrests, 

Accidents) 
A. A cost of $150 shall be assessed to each defendant convicted of O.U.I.L. – O.U.I.D or O.W.I.  

The cost recovery shall be collected as a part of the fines and costs set by the 67th District 
Court. 

 
B. Actual costs shall be assessed to each defendant convicted of O.U.I.L. – O.U.I.D or O.W.I. in 

which a motor vehicle accident occurred.  The cost recovery shall be collected as a part of the 
fines and costs set by the 67th District Court.  In the event the court declines collection, they 
shall be billed direct to the defendant.   

 
C. For the purpose of determining costs for extensive investigation and cleanup recovery for 

emergency response for alcohol related arrests and accidents, the following table shall be used: 
Police Personnel $40 Per Hour 
Police Clerical 30 Per Hour 
Police Car 15 Per Hour 
Fire Personnel 20 Per Hour 
Fire Pumper 250 Per Hour 
Fire Support Vehicles 100 Per Hour 

 
4. Chapter 5: Cemetery Lots - Purchase 

The cost for purchase of cemetery lots will be $100.00 per lot. 
 

5. Chapter 5: Cemetery, Charges for Grave Openings, etc. 
Grave openings shall be actual costs, either as sub-contracted or performed by City Employees, 
plus a 15% administrative fee. 

 
6. Chapter 11: Park Reservation Fees 

 
            Elms Park 
Pavilion #1 $  70.00 
Pavilion #2 $  120.00 
Pavilion #3 $  70.00 
Pavilion #4 $  120.00 

 
          Winshall Park 
Pavilion #1 $  70.00 
Pavilion #2 $  70.00 
Pavilion #3 $  70.00 
 
Deposit  $100.00 

City Council Packet 19 May 23, 2016



 
7. Chapter 15: Permit, Sidewalk Installation 

 $25.00 
 

8. Chapter 15: Permit for Excavation, Right of Way or Other City Property 
$100.00 

 
9. Chapter 19: Water System Use, Rates and Charges 

(A) Charges for water supply services to premises within the city connected with the water 
supply system shall be as follows: 

 
Rates for Quarterly Billings 

 
                                                                   Readiness to serve charge 

5/8”, 3/4", 1” $51.22 Was $52.17 
1.5” $220.77 Was $220.77 
2” $353.23 Was $353.23 
3” $662.31 Was $662.31 
4” $1,103.85 Was $1,103.86 
6” $2,207.70 Was $2,207.70 

 
Commodity charge (per 100 cubic feet of water): $7.07 (previously was $5.93) 

                                  
Additional meters, connected for the exclusive purpose of registering water consumed and NOT 
returned to the sewer system shall be charged the commodity charge only (example: lawn 
sprinkler system). 

 
(B)  Any water customer may have water services temporarily shut off for any time period during 
which the premises, for which the water service is provided, will be unoccupied.  The request for 
such shut off shall be made in writing on forms to be provided by the city.  The written request 
shall specify the reason for the shut off and the date on which the water service shall be shut 
off. 

 
(C)  There shall be a Twenty Dollar ($20.00) charge for shutting off the water service pursuant 
to such request and a Twenty Dollar ($20.00) charge for turning the water service back on, if the 
shut off or turn on is performed during normal business hours.  If this shut off or turn on is 
performed outside of normal business hours, the charge shall be One-Hundred Dollars 
($100.00).  Such charges shall also apply if water is shut off or turned back on pursuant to 
account delinquency.  The City Manager may waive shut off and turn on fees for reasonable 
cause. 

 
(D)  Water customers shall continue to be billed for a readiness to service charge while 
connected to the system. 
 
(E)     Bulk water sales shall be in accordance with the following fee schedule: 
 

Bulk Water Purchases  
   1 cubic ft. = 7.4805 

Gallons 
   

     Gallons  Cubic ft. Cost 
  3,740 499.96658 $104.00 
 5,000 668.40452 $116.00 
  10,000 1336.809 $160.00 
  15,000 2005.2136 $204.00 
  20,000 2673.6181 $247.00 
   

10. Chapter 19: Water & Sewer Tap Fees 

City Council Packet 20 May 23, 2016



(A)    There shall be paid, with respect to all premises connecting to the water and sanitary 
sewer system of the city, a tap-in fee pursuant to the following schedules: 

 
(1)     Single-family residence--$1,500 each for water & sanitary sewer 

 
 (2)     Multiple-family residence--$1,500 per unit each for water and sanitary sewer 

 
(B)    All other uses connecting to the water and/or sanitary sewer system of the city shall be 
required to pay tap-in fees at the rate of one-thousand, five hundred dollars ($1,500) per unit 
factor, pursuant to the unit factor table provided for by the Genesee County Division of Water 
and Waste.  In no case shall tap-in fees be less than one-thousand, five hundred dollars 
($1,500). 
 
(C)   Furthermore, for any structure used generally for more than one (1) purpose, connection 
fees shall be determined by applying the appropriate unit factors as set by the Genesee County 
Division of Water and Waste, to the various uses on any level, grade or sub-grade plane of the 
structure, provided that it is intended that the fees so derived shall be cumulative.  Tap fees 
shall also apply for any additional units that may be calculated and applied by the County WWS 
pursuant to change in use or otherwise. 

 
11. Chapter 19: Sanitary Sewer Rates 

 
Rates for Quarterly Billings   

 
Readiness to serve charge (per metered account):   $52.50  Was $58.86 
Readiness to serve charge (non-metered accounts):  $124.61Was $129.11 
Commodity charge (per 100 cubic feet of water consumed): $2.14  Was $1.91 

 
A readiness to serve charge equal to the number of calculated sewer units shall be charged to 
all customers connected to the city’s sewer system to offset fixed costs of system operation.  In 
addition, a commodity charge shall be applied to the sewer bill in an amount equal to the above 
rate multiplied by the number of ccf that the accompanying water account registers. If the sewer 
connection is not accompanied by a water meter to register water usage, the charge shall be 
considered non-metered and no commodity charge shall be applied.  

 
For the purposes of determining sanitary sewer rates, per unit sewage disposal calculations 
resulting in a fraction of a whole number shall be rounded up to the next highest whole number.  

 
12. Chapter 20: Weed Cutting Fees 

$300 per cut 
 

13. Building & Trade Inspection Fees 
 
A.  Building Permit Fees: Appendix A 21.06 
$50.00 for first $1,000 value $5.00 per $1,000 thereafter and $50.00 for a one-time Inspection 
fee. 
 
B.  Electrical Inspection Fees 

Application Fee (non-refundable)    $50 
 
Service 
Through 200 Amp.      $10 
Over 200 Amp. thru 600 Amp.    $15 
Over 600 Amp. thru 800 Amp.    $20 
Over 800 Amp. thru 1200 Amp.    $25 
Over 1200 Amp. (GFI only)     $50 
Circuits       $5 
Lighting Fixtures-per 25     $6 
Dishwasher      $5 

City Council Packet 21 May 23, 2016



Furnace-Unit Heater     $5 
Electrical-Heating Units (baseboard)   $4 
Power Outlets (ranges, dryers, etc.)   $7 
 
Signs 
Unit       $10 
Letter       $15 
Neon-each 25 feet      $20 
Feeders-Bus Ducts, etc.-per 50’    $6 
Mobile Home Park Site     $6 
Recreational Vehicle Park Site    $4 
 
K.V.A. & H.P.  
Units up to 20      $6 
Units 21 to 50 K.V.A. or H.P.    $10 
Units 51 K.V.A. or H.P. & over    $12 
 
Fire Alarm Systems (excl. smoke detectors) 
Up to 10 devices      $50 
11 to 20 devices      $100    
Over 20 devices      $5 each 
 
Data/Telecommunication Outlets 
1-19 devices      $5 each 
20-300 devices      $100 
Over 300 devices      $300 
Energy Retrofit-Temp. Control    $45 
Conduit only or grounding only    $45 
 
Inspections 
Special/Safety Insp. (includes cert. fee)   $50 
Additional Inspection     $50 
Final Inspection      $50 
Certification Fee      $20  

 
C. Mechanical Inspection Fees 

Application Fee (non-refundable)    $50 
 
Residential Heating System (includes  
duct & pipe, new building only)    $50 
Gas/Oil Burning Equipment  
(furnace, roof top units, generators)    $30 
Boiler       $30 
Water Heater      $5 
Damper       $5 
Solid Fuel Equip. (includes chimney)   $30 
Gas Burning Fireplace     $30 
Chimney, factory built (installed separately)   $25 
Solar; set of 3 panels-fluid transfer  
(includes piping)      $20 
Gas piping; each opening-new installation 
(residential)      $5 
Air Conditioning (includes split systems) 
RTU-Cooling only      $30 
Heat Pumps (complete residential)    $30 
Dryer, Bath & Kitchen Exhaust    $5 
 
Tanks 
Aboveground      $20 

City Council Packet 22 May 23, 2016



Aboveground Connection     $20 
Underground      $25 
Underground Connection     $25 
Humidifiers/Air Cleaners     $10 
 
Piping-minimum fee $25 
Piping       $.05/ft 
Process piping      $.05/ft 
 
Duct-minimum fee $25     $.10/ft 
Heat Pumps; Commercial (pipe not included)  $20 
 
Air Handlers/Heat Wheels 
Under 10,000 CFM      $20 
Over 10,000 CFM      $60 
Commercial Hoods/Exhausters    $15 
Heat Recovery Units     $10 
V.A.V. Boxes      $10 
Unit Ventilators      $10 
Unit Heaters (terminal units)    $15 
 
Fire Suppression/Protection  
(includes piping) –minimum fee $20   $.75/head 
Evaporator Coils      $30 
Refrigeration (split system)     $30 
Chiller       $30 
Cooling Towers      $30 
Compressor/Condenser     $30 
 
Inspections 
Special/Safety Insp. (includes cert. fee)   $50 
Additional Inspection     $50 
Final Inspection      $50 
Certification Fee      $20 

 
D. Plumbing Inspection Fees 

Application Fee (non-refundable)    $50 
 
Mobile Home Park Site 
Fixtures, floor drains, special drains,   $5 each 
Water connected appliances    $5 each 
Stacks (soil, waste, vent and conductor)   $3 each 
Sewage ejectors, sumps     $5 each 
Sub-soil drains      $5 each 
 
Water Service 
Less than 2”      $5 
2” to 6”       $25 
Over 6”       $50 
Connection (bldg. drain-bldg. sewers)   $5 
 
Sewers (sanitary, storm or combined) 
Less than 6”      $5 
6” and Over      $25 
Manholes, Catch Basins     $5 each 
 
Water Distributing Pipe (system) 
¾” Water Distribution Pipe     $5 
1” Water Distribution Pipe     $10 

City Council Packet 23 May 23, 2016



1 ¼” Water Distribution Pipe    $15 
1 ½” Water Distribution Pipe    $20 
2” Water Distribution Pipe     $25 
Over 2” Water Distribution Pipe    $30 
Reduced pressure zone back-flow preventer  $5 each 
Domestic water treatment and  
filtering equipment only     $5 
Medical Gas System     $45 
 
Inspections 
Special/Safety Insp. (includes cert. fee)   $50 
Additional Inspection     $50 
Final Inspection      $50 
Certification Fee      $20 

 
14. Appendix B: Franchises   

$250 application fee plus actual expenses related to preparation by City Attorney. 
 

15. Miscellaneous Fees 
 

A. Copies: 
 Black & White:  10¢ for page. 
 Color or Mixed Color and Black & White:  25¢ per page   
 

B.  Freedom of Information Act Requests:   
 See the City of Swartz Creek Freedom of Information Act Procedures & Guidelines: adopted 

June 22, 2015 for details. Standard requests shall be charged 10¢ for 8.5 x 11 page (25¢ for 
color or mixed color) plus all actual costs for outside re-production (i.e. photo re-prints, blueprint 
copies, digital media storage, etc.).  Extensive search requests shall have an additional per hour 
fee equal to wages only of the lowest paid clerical position employed with the City ($8.15/hour 
with a 1.1 fringe multiplier, totaling $8.97/hour). 

 
C.  Police Reports: 

$5 for copies under 6 pages, 10¢ for each page thereafter.  Extensive research, reproduction 
costs, etc. shall be charged in accordance with F.O.I.A. requests. 

 
D. Gun Registrations, Permits & Safety Inspections: 

 No Charge 
 

 E. Towing & Impound Fees: 
$100 for each vehicle towed as incidental to arrest or other civil custody.  $100 for each vehicle 
towed as abandoned.  The Chief of Police may, at his/her discretion, waive any towing fee when 
in his/her opinion, special circumstance exists.  A report shall be filed when any such action is 
taken. 

 
F.  Weddings: 
 $50 per ceremony  
 
G. Fax Services: 
 50¢ per page for the first 10 pages, then $0.25 per page thereafter  
 
H. Notary Services: 
 $10.00 per item  
 
I. Insufficient Funds: 

$25 each for any check returned unpaid for account insufficient, closed or stopped  
 

J. Penalties on Outstanding Invoices/Miscellaneous Receivables:  
$10 penalty for unpaid miscellaneous receivables, including but not limited to: utility bills, 

City Council Packet 24 May 23, 2016



mowing invoices, sidewalk repair, project reimbursements, charges for services, and retiree 
coverage contributions.  This penalty shall be applied once to “past due” invoices. 

 
K. Interest on Outstanding Invoices/Miscellaneous Receivables:  

1.5% interest per month on outstanding invoices that are 30 days “past due”.  
 

*Payments made toward outstanding balances shall be applied in the following order: interest, 
penalties, principle.  
 

16. Chapter 13 & 16: Development Plans, Administrative Fees, Subdivision Site Plan & Review 
Fees 
 
A. Site Plan Review:   

Property Re-Zoning  $250 
Single & Multiple-Family (non-plat)  $300 plus $5.00 per lot   
Cluster Housing Development  $300 plus $5.00 per unit 
Mobile Home Park   $400 plus $5.00 per unit 
Commercial Development  $450 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Industrial Development  $400 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Office Development  $350 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Institutional  $300 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Public/semi-public uses  $300 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Special Approval or Conditional Use  $250 plus $5.00 per acre/fraction 
PUD/Mixed Use Review    $500 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction  
Consulting Fees (All Reviews)   Actual consultant costs 
Revisions     ½ of original review fee 
 

B.  Building and Zoning: 
Swimming Pool Permit    $25 
Misc. Zoning Permit       $25 
Sidewalk Permit        $25 
Sign Permit        See Building Permits 
Structure Movement Permit    $95 
Demolition Permit (Including ROW Permit)    $150 
Right of Way Permit    $100 
Home Occupation Permit    $95   
Variance Review    $250 per variance  
Zoning Board of Appeals: Petitioned Interpretation Review $150  
Zoning Board of Appeals: Appeal Review    $250 
Lot Split/Combination: City Ordinance Section 16.2  $150 plus $5.00 per lot  
Public or Private Road Plan Reviews    $400 per mile/fraction 
Consulting Fees    Actual consultant costs 
Zoning Code    $10 CD, $25 Paper Copy 
Engineering Standards Manual    $10 CD, $25 Paper Copy 
Medical Marijuana Dispensary/Facility Review    $500 

 
C. Subdivision Review 

Preliminary Subdivision Review-Tentative   $300 plus $5.35 per lot  
Preliminary Subdivision Review- Final    $160 plus $2.70 per lot 
Final Plat Review      $160 plus $1.00 per lot 

 
17.   Chapter 1: Municipal Civil Infraction Fines 

Civic Infraction Citation Fines:  
First Offense       $100 
Second Offense       $200 
Third Offense       $300 

 
Civic Infraction Notice Fines:  
First Offense       $75 

City Council Packet 25 May 23, 2016



Second Offense       $150 
Third Offense       $250 
 

18.   Rental Inspection Program Fees 
 
Registration  $75 for the first unit, plus $20 for each additional unit 

on a shared premises, with common ownership and 
management, or within recognized apartment 
complexes 

Follow up inspections The initial and one follow-up inspection will be 
performed without additional fees. Subsequent 
inspections shall be charged at the rate of $25/unit 

Registration Updates/Amendments  No charge 
Coverage  The initial fee covers the registration and first 

inspection and is valid until the resulting certificate of 
compliance expires 

Pro-ration    There shall be no pro-ration of fees 
________________________________________________________ 

 
ADOPTION & REVISION HISTORY: 
Resolution No. 050711-07  Dated July 11, 2005 
Resolution No. 100208-06  Dated February 8, 2010 
Resolution No. 101206-04  Dated December 6, 2010 (Water-Sewer-RTS) 
Resolution No. 111114-05  Dated November 14, 2011 (Park Fees) 
Resolution No. 110613-07  Dated June 13, 2011 (Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 120611-05  Dated June 11, 2012 (Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 120709-05  Dated July 9, 2012 (Bulk Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 130610-09  Dated June 10, 2013 (Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 130826-06  Dated August 26, 2013 (K.W.A. Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 140922-07  Dated September 22, 2014 (Utility and MMD Fees) 
Resolution No. 150824-05  Dated August 24, 2015 (FOIA, Rentals, Utility Fees) 
Resolution No. 151214-05  Dated December 14, 2015 (Parking) 

  Resolution No. 160523-8B  Dated May 23, 2016 (Water and Sewer) 
 

Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 

Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 160523-8E ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT #430 
 

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
I Move the City of Swartz Creek enact Ordinance #430, an ordinance to amend 
Sections 16.02 of Article 16 and Section 30.09 of Article 30 of Appendix A of the Code 
of Ordinances to permit Medical Marijuana Growing Facilities in Light Industrial 
Districts and to establish additional requirements to such facilities, as follows: 

 
CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 

ORDINANCE NO. 430 
 
An ordinance to amend Sections 16.02 of Article 16 and Section 30.09 of Article 30 of 
Appendix A Zoning of the Code of Ordinances to permit Medical Marijuana Growing Facilities 
in Light Industrial Districts and to establish additional requirements to such facilities. 
 

City Council Packet 26 May 23, 2016



THE CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK ORDAINS: 
 
Section 1. Amendment of Section 16.02 of Article 16 of Appendix A Zoning of the 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Swartz Creek. 
 
 Section 16.02 of Article 16 of Appendix A Zoning of the Code of Ordinances for the 
City of Swartz Creek shall be amended to include the following: 
  
 K.1. Medical Marijuana Dispensaries 
 
Section 2. Amendment of Section 30.09 of Article 30 of Appendix A Zoning of the 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Swartz Creek. 
 
 Section 30.09 of Article 30 of Appendix A Zoning of the Code of Ordinances for the 
City of Swartz Creek shall be amended to include the following: 
  

B.23.1.B.10 Such facilities shall be required to install, operate, and maintain 
commercial grade air filters or other suitable technology to ensure odors 
of operations are not detectable at or beyond any property line. 

 
Section 3. Effective Date. 
 
 This Ordinance shall take effect twenty (20) days following publication.  At a regular 
meeting of the City Council of Swartz Creek held on the 23rd day of May, 2016, 
_________________ moved for adoption of the foregoing ordinance and 
____________________ supported the motion. 

 
Voting for: 
Voting against: 
 
The Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 
 
      _________________________________ 
      David Krueger 
      Mayor 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Connie Eskew 
      City Clerk 
  

CERTIFICATION 
 
The foregoing is a true copy of Ordinance No. _____ which was enacted by the Swartz Creek 
City Council at a regular meeting held on the ________ day of __________________, 2016. 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      Connie Eskew 
      City Clerk  
 

City Council Packet 27 May 23, 2016



Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 160523-8F SUNOCO DEMOLITION BIDS   

 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
WHEREAS, the city resolved to acquire real property, commonly known as the 
“Sunoco Gas Station” located at 5012 Holland Drive, parcel 58-02-529-017, from the 
Genesee County Treasurer’s Office on June 22, 2015; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city subsequently submitted a Baseline Environmental Assessment 
and registered three underground gasoline storage tanks and one underground fuel oil 
tank with the State of Michigan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the community desires to eliminate the blight and repurpose this site as a 
means to eliminate potential hazards and nuisances; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city retain the services of Applied Ecosystems to assess this site and 
advise with its clean up; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city applied for and has been granted a State of Michigan Blight 
Elimination Grant by the Michigan Land Bank Fast Track Authority to remove the site 
structures and underground storage tanks in an amount of $22,000, with an additional 
match of $10,000 from the Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority; and  
 
WHEREAS, the city sought sealed bids for the demolition of the gas station and 
removal of tanks as required under Purchasing Ordinance, Chapter 2, Article VI, 
Section 2-402; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city received six valid bids. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council 
accepts the low bid of RBF Construction, Inc. in the amount of $26,000, plus a 20% 
contingency for unanticipated, non-specified change orders, for completion of the work 
as specified in the attached bid specification, plus an additional $2,850 for soil 
monitoring and filing of a UST removal report to the State of Michigan, if needed and 
directed by the city manager. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council directs the city manager to 
execute any and all contracts necessary between RBF Construction, Inc., their 
subcontractors, and the State of Michigan to engage these services. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the finance director apportion project expenses 
from the general fund and track such expenses for reimbursement from the State of 
Michigan and Swartz Creek DDA as outlined in the grant agreement. 
 

City Council Packet 28 May 23, 2016



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council hereby 
retains Applied EcoSystems as the city’s environmental consultant for this demolition 
and tank removal, and directs the city manager to execute their proposal for services 
of observation, documentation, and regulatory control of the demolition and tank 
removal, price not to exceed $2,500, with such costs to be apportioned from the city’s 
general fund. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 160523-8H WINCHESTER WOODS ROAD SURFACE BID 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
WHEREAS, the city owns, operates, and maintains a system of major and local 
streets; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Winchester Woods Sudivision was platted in Gaines Township and 
was incorporated into the City of Swartz Creek in 1959; and 
 
WHEREAS, the subdivision has water and partial sewer in place, but lacks storm 
water and accessible streets; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city finds that vested rights of the various lot owners include 
reasonable access to their land, including that of public and emergency services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city has acquired ten lots in this area via the tax foreclosure process, 
with the intention of using these lots to provide storm water detention and/or financial 
resources to offset investments necessary to make surrounding lots buildable for their 
intended purpose of single family residential; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city sought sealed bids for the application of city-owned street millings 
to the unimproved section of Young Drive and Cardigan Drive as required under 
Purchasing Ordinance, Chapter 2, Article VI, Section 2-402; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city received one valid bid. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council 
accepts the low bid of C & H Construction in the amount of $12,800 for completion of 
the work as specified in the attached “Young and Cardigan Streets” bid specification. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City directs the Finance 
Director to apportion project expenses from the general fund and track such expenses 
for reimbursement against any future sales of city-owned lots in the Winchester Village 
Subdivision. 
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

City Council Packet 29 May 23, 2016



 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 
 

Resolution No. 160523-8I  STREET ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
   

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
WHEREAS, under the General Operating Rules of the Council, the Mayor, with the 
advice and consent of Council, may appoint temporary committees whose 
membership may include persons not on Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, such committees must be temporary in nature, have a specific purpose, 
and include a specific time frame for their activities; and  
 
WHEREAS, the city has a 20 year street maintenance plan on file that is funded, in 
part, by a 20 year street levy; and  
 
WHEREAS, the council desires to enable a committee of residents, councilmembers, 
and staff to further deliberate on the particulars relating to the prioritization and funding 
of the next three years of street projects, inclusive of those supported by the Major 
Street Fund, Local Street Fund, and Municipal Street Fund. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City of Swartz Creek City Council hereby 
creates a temporary committee, to be referred to as the “Street Project Review 
Committee,” for the purpose of reviewing and making recommendations relating to the 
order and funding plan for the 2017, 2018, and 2019 construction seasons, to the most 
practical extent possible. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Street Project Review Committee shall endeavor to 
deliver such findings at or before the regular meeting on September 26, 2016 and be 
subsequently dissolved unless otherwise engaged in further reviews at the direction of 
the city council. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the membership of the Street Project Review 
Committee shall be composed of the following individuals: 
 

Mayor Krueger 
Councilmember Hicks 
Councilmember Pinkston 
Steve Shumaker 
Steve Long 
Dennis Cramer 
Lou Fluery – Consultant Engineer  (non-voting) 
Adam Zettel – Staff Member (non-voting) 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 

City Council Packet 30 May 23, 2016



Voting Against: ____________________________________________________ 
 

Resolution No. 160523-8J ELMS PARK BATHROOM BIDS 
 

 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek owns operates and maintains a system of parks 
in the community, including grounds, facilities, and equipment; and 
 
WHEREAS, at the recommendation of the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board, the 
City Council directed the city manager to apply for a Recreation Passport Grant to fund 
renovations and improvements at Elms Park; and 
 
WHEREAS, city staff, with technical assistance from Rowe Professional Services 
Company, created a scope of work and grant applicant to the State of Michigan 
Department of Natural Resources for said grant; with DNR approval of the city’s 
request occurring in December of 2015; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city desires to bid and construct said improvements as quickly as 
possible; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city accepted the terms of the Agreement as received from the 
Michigan Department of Natural Resources by resolution on January 11, 2016 and 
subsequently received approval from the DNR to bid the bathroom renovation 
improvements related to this grant project and 

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the City’s Purchasing Ordinance, Chapter 2, Article VI, 
Section 2-402, as well as DNR bidding requirements, the city solicited sealed bids for 
this project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the city received four valid and qualified bids. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council 
accepts the low bid of $36,783 for completion of the Elms Park bathroom repairs as 
specified by the city’s engineer and approved by the Michigan Department of Natural 
Resources, said bid submitted by Oak Construction Corporation, such expenses to be 
apportioned and expensed from the Elms Park Project Fund and submitted for 
reimbursement to the DNR. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council hereby directs the city manager to 
submit necessary documents to the DNR for final approval of this project component 
and further directs the manager to execute any and all agreements, contracts, pay 
authorizations, and related documents necessary to carry out restoration of the 
bathrooms under the terms of the Recreation Passport Grant and engineer’s contract. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 
 

City Council Packet 31 May 23, 2016



 CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
DATE 05/09/2016 

 
The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m. by Mayor Krueger in the Swartz Creek City 
Council Chambers, 8083 Civic Drive. 
 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Councilmembers Present:  Abrams, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, 

Porath. 
 
Councilmembers Absent:   None. 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Adam Zettel, City Clerk Connie Eskew, 

Public Services Director Tom Svrcek.   
     
Others Present: Tommy Butler, Jim Barclay, Steve Shumaker, Dennis 

Cramer, Boots Abrams, Sharon Shumaker, Lou Fleury, 
Sheila Auten, Bob Plumb, Ron Webb, Julie Webb, Ethan 
Webb, Madeline Webb, Betty Binder, Bill Baker, Elaine 
Tucker, Penny Messer, Jeanne Jackson, Livia Jackson, 
Logan Black, Layne Parks & Steven Long.   

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
          Resolutions No. 160509-01       (Carried) 
  
                      Motion by Councilmember Porath 
                      Second by Councilmember Gilbert   
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council hereby approve the Minutes of the Regular 
Council Meeting held Monday April 25, 2016 to be circulated and placed on file. 

 
YES: Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Abrams. 

 NO:   None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
Resolution No. 160509-02       (Carried) 

 
Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams  

  Second by Councilmember Hicks 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Agenda as amended for the 
Regular Council Meeting of May 9, 2016, to be circulated and placed on file. 
 

 

City Council Packet 32 May 23, 2016



YES:  Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Abrams, Florence. 
  NO:   None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

  
City Manager’s Report 
 
  Resolution No. 160509-03       (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Councilmember Florence 
  Second by Councilmember Gilbert  
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council accept the City Manager’s Report of May  
9, 2016, including reports and communications, to be circulated and placed on file.  

 
YES: Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Abrams, Florence, Gilbert. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 

MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC 
 
Dennis Cramer, resident at 5299 Worchester Drive, questioned if there were any 
improvements on the horizon for Winshall Park.  Mr. Svrcek responded that just general 
maintenance along with a swing set on the west end side is being removed.  
 
COUNCIL BUSINESS 
 
Eagle Scout Recognition        Proclamation 
 
Mayor David Krueger presented Ethan Webb with a proclamation in recognition for his 
Eagle Scout.  
 
GFWC-Swartz Creek Women’s Club      Presentation 
 
The GFWC presented to the City two checks, one for $1500.00 for the Cops in the Park 
program and one for $500.00 for Camp 911 program.  They also wanted to remind 
everyone that there will be a fundraiser “Rocking for Roscoe” at Hometown Days.  
 
GARAGE FLATWORK BIDS 

 
 Resolution No. 160509-04       (Carried) 

 
  Motion by Councilmember Hicks 
  Second by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams  
 

WHEREAS, the city finds it necessary to remove and replace the concrete 
approach in front of the main building at the city garage; and 
 
WHEREAS, this process requires approximately 3,600 square feet of 7” thick 
concrete; and 

 

City Council Packet 33 May 23, 2016



WHEREAS, in accordance with the City’s Purchasing Ordinance, Chapter 2, Article 
VI, Section 2-402, the city solicited sealed bids for this project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the city received two valid bids and one that was invalidated due to the 
absence of a stated cost; and 

 
WHEREAS, the low bidder is qualified. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council 
accepts the low bid of $19,400 for the replacement of 3,600 square feet of concrete 
at the city garage, said bid submitted by RBF Construction of Swartz Creek, 
expenses to be distributed to the Motor Pool Fund. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council accepts 
the extrapolated unit cost of $5.39 per square foot for the removal and replacement 
of 7” thick concrete, as specified, as the low bid for additional projects completed 
within the parameters of the city budget prior to December 31, 2016. 
 
Discussion Ensued.  

    
   YES: Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Abrams, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks. 

NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 

STREET PLAN & COMMITTEE                       Discussion 
 
Adam Zettel, City Manager commented that the levy question that was put forth passed on 
May 3rd.  He recommended we create a temporary committee that will meet in each June 
or July to make recommendations to council on the prioritization and timing on street 
repairs.  
 
PARK WAIVER REQUEST - SCOUTS 

 
Resolution No. 160509-05       (Carried) 
 
 Motion by Councilmember Gilbert  

Second by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek requires park usage reservations and fees 
accordance with adopted rules and regulations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Girl Scout Alumni of Fair Winds Council reserved Pavilion #2 in 
Elms Park for September 18, 2016 for the purpose of holding an annual meeting; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the city park rules and regulations  states that “fees may be waived in 
full if reservations by a non-profit are found to result in a public benefit directly or if 
proceeds from the reserved event are found to be a benefit to the city.”; and  
 

City Council Packet 34 May 23, 2016



WHEREAS, the City Council finds the petitioning group to be a qualifying group with 
a qualifying activity. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council hereby 
waives all fees for the September 18, 2016 reservation in Elms Park. 
 

   YES: Pinkston, Porath, Abrams, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
MASTER PLAN APPROVAL 
 
 Resolution No. 160509-06                (Carried) 

 
Motion by Councilmember Pinkston 
Second by Councilmember Porath 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek master plan was last revised on February 10, 
2010; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Michigan Planning Enabling Act requires a plan to be reviewed 
every five years in order to maintain its applicability and maximum legal integrity; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, the City Council directed the planning commission to review and 
potentially revise the master plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the planning commission, after hosting workshops, public meetings, 
and reviewing the existing plan, revised the master plan to include considerations 
for the following: 
 

1. The closure of Sports Creek Raceway 
2. The construction of Meijer 
3. The continued decrease in taxable values and state revenue sharing 
4. Changes in city staffing levels/services 
5. Changes in demographics and economics 
6. Related changes to the city’s land uses and expectations 

;and, 
 

WHEREAS, the planning commission finalized updates and recommended 
distribution of the draft plan at their regular meeting on January 5, 2016, and the city 
council confirmed this distribution on February 8, 2016; and, 
 
WHEREAS, notice was posted and copies of the master plan have been distributed 
in accordance with state law to hold a public hearing in front of the planning 
commission on May 3, 2016; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the plan was approved after that public hearing by the City of Swartz 
Creek Planning Commission, with comments from Bishop Airport, the Genesee 

City Council Packet 35 May 23, 2016



County Metropolitan Planning Commission, and the Swartz Creek Planning 
Commission; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Swartz Creek City Council, exercising rights enabled by MCL 
125.3843, desires to affirm approval of the master plan. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council hereby 
grants final approval of the Master Plan, dated May 4, 2016, and directs staff to 
print, execute, and distribute copies of the plan in accordance with state law. 
 
Discussion Ensued. 
   

   YES: Porath, Abrams, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger Pinkston. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
TRUCK REPLACEMENT   
 

Resolution No. 160509-07       (Carried) 
   

Motion by Councilmember Porath 
Second by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek resolved to sell a S-10 pickup truck on 
January 25, 2016, said truck’s primary purpose being to service buildings and 
grounds within the city; and, 
  
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek desires to replace this pickup truck with a 
comparable and inexpensive two wheel drive truck with bed; and, 
  
WHEREAS, city staff finds that a negotiated sale of used equipment, a 2013 
Chevrolet Silverado 1500 Regular Cab, based upon Kelly Bluebook wholesale 
pricing, is in the best interest of the city; and, 
  
WHEREAS, City Charter, Section 2-402 enables negotiated sales in lieu of sealed 
bids for such circumstances. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Swartz Creek approves 
the purchase of a 2013 Chevy Silverado 1500 Regular Cab, VIN 
1GCNCPEX0DZ310436, from Patsy Lou Williamson Used Cars, 2100 Linden Road, 
Flint, Michigan for the price of $14,510, funds to be appropriated from 661 Motor 
Pool. 
 
Discussion Ensued.  
 

   YES: Abrams, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger Pinkston, Porath. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
 
 

City Council Packet 36 May 23, 2016



BODY ARMOUR PURCHASE  
 

 Resolution No. 160509-08                (Carried) 
 

Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams 
Second by Councilmember Hicks 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek Police Department is in need of replacement 
body armor; and, 
  
WHEREAS, a departmental study showed a preference for the Second Chance 
SM02 Level II vest from Michigan Police Equipment; and, 
  
WHEREAS, quotes were sought on seven different products, with the preferred 
product being found to be reasonably priced; and, 
  
WHEREAS, the department has submitted a grant that, if awarded, would offset half 
of the cost of this purchase. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Swartz Creek approves 
the purchase of the Second Chance SM02 Level II vest from Michigan Police 
Equipment in the amount of $700 each, with the understanding that up to eleven 
may be purchased and retained for department use. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the expense of such vests shall be charged to 
the Equipment Account of the Police Department in their entirety, with any and all 
grant revenues to be used to defray such costs. 
 

   YES: Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger Pinkston, Porath, Abrams. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
***************************************Master Resolution***************************************** 
 
MASTER RESOLUTIONS:  HOMETOWN DAYS PERMITS, FIRE DEPARTMENT 
PERMIT, RIVERBEND STRIDERS – CROSS COUNTRY PERMIT 
 
 Resolution No. 160509–09             (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Councilmember Florence 
  Second by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams 

 
I Move the City of Swartz Creek approve Resolutions 160509-9A through 160509-
9I, allowing for the various permits relative to the annual Swartz Creek Hometown 
Days events, Swartz Creek Area Fire Department and Riverbend Striders – Cross 
Country, to be held beginning Tuesday, May 31, 2016 and concluding on Monday, 
June 6, 2016, inclusive of all stipulations and conditions as specified and listed 
within, including the provision of valid insurance that lists the City of Swartz Creek 
as an additionally insured party for all events. 
 

City Council Packet 37 May 23, 2016



HOMETOWN DAYS, STREET CARNIVAL, GENERAL STREET & PROPERTY USE 
PERMITS 
 

Resolution No. 160509-9A  
 
I Move the City of Swartz Creek approve and authorize the Swartz Creek 
Hometown Days Committees’ application for street closing and City property use 
permits for the following locations: 
 

1. Morrish between Miller and Ingalls-Wade, Carnival.  
2. Holland between Miller and Ingalls, Vendor – Carnival.  
3. City Lot located at the southwest corner of Miller and Morrish, 

Carnival. 
4. Ingalls at Holland and Park Land located to the North and Northwest 

of the intersection of Morrish and Ingalls, Carnival.   
5. City owned property located along the North side of Fortino, West of 

Morrish Road, Car Show, Vendors, and Radio D.J., general parking.   
6. City owned property, 4438 South Morrish Road. 
7. City owned property, 4505 Fortino. 
8. City owned property, Fortino (Branoff) 
9. Fire Hall out lot properties. 
10. Use of DPW Yard and Generator (access subject to department). 

 
Street and City property use, unless otherwise indicated, begins Tuesday, May 31, 
2016 at 9:00 a.m. until Monday June 6, 2016 at 9:00 A.M.., for the purpose of, and 
authorization to conduct a carnival, vendor/display areas, car show and or other 
similar events under the following stipulations: 

 
1. Insurance certificate naming the City as insured in the amount not less 

than $1,000,000.00 (One-Million Dollars)  
2. Written permission from deed holders of any private properties to be 

used and appropriate insurance certificates naming such parties as 
additional insured: City of Swartz Creek, Cooks Diesel 5248 Morrish 
Road; William Kincaid & Kincaid Properties 5086 South Morrish: St. 
Mary’s Catholic Church 4413 Morrish Road; John Alexander; 
Pentecostal Church of God / Family Worship Center 4494 Morrish 
Road; Mark O’Brien 5099 South Morrish; Kallas Heating and Cooling 
8077 Miller; Swartz Creek Schools 8354 Cappy (High School Middle 
School); Scott Hoover 8280 Crapo; Larry Bush 7322 W. Bristol Road; 
Swartz Creek Area Fire Department; Meijer Great Lakes Limited; 
Kevin McNault. 

3. Sufficient number of portable bathrooms placed and located, and liter 
control program in accordance and under the approval of Director of 
Community Services. 

4. General approval of the Chief of Police.  Traffic control and pedestrian 
safety plan in accordance with and under the approval of office of 
Chief of Police.  

 
 

City Council Packet 38 May 23, 2016



HOMETOWN DAYS, STREET USAGE PERMIT, MOTOR AND PEDESTRIAN PARADE 
 

Resolution No. 160509-9B                (Carried) 
  

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve and authorize the Swartz Creek 
Hometown Days Committees’ application for street closing / usage permit for 
Saturday, June 4, 2016 from 9:00 a.m. until 12:30 p.m. for purposes of conducting a 
parade, streets to be used include the high school performing arts center entrance, 
Miller Rd, and Frederick St under the following stipulations: 

 
1. Insurance certificate naming the City as an additional insured party in 

the amount not less than $1,000,000.00 (One Million Dollars). 
2. No candy or other objects be thrown or handed from, to or at any 

vehicle, trailer, float, or similar, and further, that the Hometown Days 
Committee establish and maintain a list of all participants and/or 
entries in the parade that identifies a contact person, such contact to 
be informed by the Hometown Days Committee of the stipulation and 
motor vehicle code enforcement actions for violations thereof. 

3. General approval, and under the direction and control of the Office of 
the Chief of Police.  

 
HOMETOWN DAYS PERMIT, AERIAL FIREWORKS DISPLAY 
 

Resolution No. 160509-9C                (Carried) 
 
I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve and authorize the Swartz Creek 
Hometown Days Committee’s application for one fireworks aerial display to be held 
on Friday, June 3, 2016, at or shortly after dusk, with a cancellation date of 
Saturday, June 4, 2016, at or shortly after dusk, to be launched from properties 
directly west of the Swartz Creek Middle School Building, said properties owned by 
the Swartz Creek School District and Mr. Scott Hoover, under the following 
stipulations and conditions: 

 
1. Insurance certificate naming the City as insured in an amount to be 

determined adequate by the City Manager. 
2. Written permission from the aforementioned parcel owners along with 

acceptable insurance certificates naming said parcel owners as 
additional insured parties, in an amount to be determined adequate by 
the City Manager. 

3. Traffic Control Plan and administration by the Offices of Chief of 
Police and Director of Community Services. 

4. Detailed Plan submitted to and approved by the Fire Chief. 
5. All decisions concerning the event and cancellation thereof, if needed, 

under the direction and control of the Fire Chief. 
 
HOMETOWN DAYS PERMIT, OPERATE ENTERTAINMENT TENT 

 
 Resolution No. 160509-9D               (Carried) 

City Council Packet 39 May 23, 2016



I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve and authorize the Swartz Creek 
Hometown Days Committee application to operate an entertainment tent with the 
sale of beer and wine for consumption on the premises, along with live 
entertainment, to be held on Parcel No. 58-02-200-014, owned by William Kincaid 
and located 5086 Morrish Road, south of Wade Street, beginning Thursday, June 2, 
2016 12:00 PM through Sunday, June 4, 2016, 9:30 PM, under the following 
stipulations: 

 
1. Michigan Liquor Control Commission Approved Application with 

appropriate insurance in accordance with the rules of the L.C.C. and 
naming the City and all other property owners as additional insured 
parties, in an amount not less than $1,000,000 (One Million Dollars). 

2. Portable bathrooms appropriately located and litter control program in 
accordance and under the approval of Director of Community 
Services. 

3. Traffic control and pedestrian safety plan in accordance with and 
under the approval of Office of Chief of Police. 

4. Adherence to all L.C.C. stipulations and regulations, state and local 
laws. 

5. No music after 11:00 p.m. Thursday, June 2, 2016 and after 1:30 a.m. 
on Friday, June 3, 2016 (Saturday Morning), and Saturday, June 4, 
2016 (Sunday Morning), and Sunday, June 5, 2016, 9:30 PM. 

6. Adequate security as approved by the Chief of Police. 
7. Adherence to and under the direction and control of the Office of the 

Chief of Police. 
 
HOMETOWN DAYS PERMIT, CEREMONIAL DISCHARGE OF A FIREARM 
 

Resolution No. 160509-9E                (Carried)
  

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council, pursuant to section 10-212(3) of the Code of 
Ordinances, approve and authorize the Swartz Creek Hometown Days Committee 
to discharge weapons as a part of a military concert and ceremonial military honor 
guard, to be held at the Swartz Creek High School’s outdoor football stadium, on 
Friday, June 3, 2016, at approximately 9:00 p.m., in conjunction with a concert and 
aerial fireworks display, with a backup rain date of Saturday, June 4, 2016 at 
approximately 9:00 p.m. under the following stipulations and conditions: 

 
1. Insurance certificate naming the City as an additional insured party in 

an amount not less than $1,000,000.00 (One Million Dollars). 
2. The party(ies) discharging the weapon(s) must be a practicing military 

honor guard trained and capable in the handling of firearms.       
 
HOMETOWN DAYS PERMIT, CEREMONIAL DISCHARGE OF A FIREARM 
 

Resolution No. 160509-9F                (Carried) 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council, pursuant to section 10-212(3) of the Code of 
Ordinances, approve and authorize the Swartz Creek Hometown Days Committee 

City Council Packet 40 May 23, 2016



to discharge weapons in conjunction with a Parade and as a ceremonial military 
honor guard, to be held along Miller Road on Saturday, June 4, 2016, at 
approximately 10:00 A.M., under the following stipulations and conditions: 

 
1. Insurance certificate naming the City as an additional insured party in 

an amount not less than $1,000,000.00 (One Million Dollars). 
2. The party(ies) discharging the weapon(s) must be a practicing military 

honor guard trained and capable in the handling of firearms. 
 
WAIVER OF INSPECTION FEE, HOMETOWN DAYS COMMITTEE 
 

Resolution No. 160509-9G                (Carried) 
  

I Move the City of Swartz Creek waive the permit fees for the temporary structure 
(trailer) and electrical permit inspection fees for the Swartz Creek Hometown Days 
Committee. 
 

TRAFFIC CONTROL APPROPRIATION 
 

Resolution No. 160509-9H       (Carried) 
  

I Move the City of Swartz Creek provide traffic control devices to ensure the safety 
of the public during the duration of the Swartz Creek Hometown Days event and 
hereby direct the Director of Public Works to order or supply barricades sufficient to 
do so at a cost not to exceed $1,750, appropriated to the community promotions 
department of the general fund. 

 
STREET USE PERMIT, ANNUAL 5K ROAD RACE, SWARTZ CREEK CROSS 
COUNTRY – RIVERBEND STRIDERS 
   
 Resolution No. 160509-9I       (Carried) 
 

I Move the City of Swartz Creek approve the application for a street usage permit to 
conduct a 5 kilometer foot road race on Thursday, June 2, 2016, 5:00 PM – 8:00 
PM, applicant: the River-Bend Striders - Swartz Creek Cross Country Team, in the 
care of Mr. Allen Murphy, race to be held in Winchester Village Subdivision, in 
accordance with the application submitted, under the direction and control of the 
Chief of Police and contingent upon the provision of valid insurance listing the City 
of Swartz Creek as an additionally insured party. 
 
Discussion Ensued. 

 
   YES: Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger Pinkston, Porath, Abrams, Florence. 

NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 
TREE & BENCH DONATION ACCEPTANCE 
 
 Resolution No. 160509-10       (Carried) 

 

City Council Packet 41 May 23, 2016



  Motion by Councilmember Hicks 
  Second by Councilmember Gilbert 

 
I Move the City of Swartz Creek accept the donation of a river birch tree and park 
bench from Sharon Shumaker, said bench to be placed in Elms Park near the front 
entrance, as directed by Mr. Svrcek and as permitted by the Park Board.   
 

   YES: Hicks, Krueger Pinkston, Porath, Abrams, Florence, Gilbert. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 

WATER RATE INCREASE REVIEW                Discussion 
 

Adam Zettel, City Manager informed that the Great Lakes Water Authority increased rates 
to Genesee County Drain Commission, our supplier, who in turn is purposing to increase 
the cost of the water commodity effective September 2, 2016. This is an increase of 8.6%. 
 
Recess-five minute recess 8:13 p.m.-8:18 p.m. 
 
ASPHALT PATCH BIDS 
 
 Resolution No. 160509-11                (Carried)
  
  Motion by Councilmember Gilbert  
  Second by Porath 

 
WHEREAS, the city finds it necessary to remove and replace certain sections of 
asphalt roadway in which excavations at and under the roadway occurred; and 
 
WHEREAS, this process requires approximately 26 linear feet of curb and 1,037 
square feet of like kind materials for seven distinct repairs; and 

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the City’s Purchasing Ordinance, Chapter 2, Article 
VI, Section 2-402, the city solicited sealed bids for this project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the city received three valid and qualified bids. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council 
accepts the low bid of $12,730 for completion of the spot repairs as specified, said 
bid submitted by RBF Construction of Swartz Creek, expenses to be appropriated to 
the Water Fund. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council accepts 
the extrapolated unit cost of $11.02 per square foot for the removal and 
replacement of 6.5” thick or greater asphalt, as specified, as the low bid for 
additional projects completed within the parameters of the city budget prior to 
December 31, 2016. 
 
Discussion Ensued. 
 

City Council Packet 42 May 23, 2016



   YES: Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Abrams, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
2016-2017 FY BUDGET, SET PUBLIC HEARING 
 
 Resolution No. 160509-12       (Carried) 
  

Motion by Councilmember Pinkston 
Second by Councilmember Hicks 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek observes a fiscal year, beginning on July 1 of 
each year; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City Charter requires a public hearing on the proposed budget and 
encourages adoption prior to the third Monday in May; and,  
 
WHEREAS, city staff have prepared budget revenues and expenses in draft form in 
the timeliest manner practical based upon determinations available for taxable 
value. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED the City of Swartz Creek hereby sets a 
Public Hearing, to be held on Tuesday, May 23, 2016 at 7:00 PM, at the regularly 
scheduled City Council Meeting, or as soon thereafter as this matter can be heard, 
to hear public comments and needs regarding the Proposed 2016-2017 Fiscal Year 
Budget, and further, post a notice of the public hearing in the View News, with a 
copy of the proposed budget to be available in the Clerk’s Office beginning May 10, 
2016.   
 

   YES: Pinkston, Porath, Abrams, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
END-YEAR BUDGET AMENDMENT 
 
 Resolution No. 160509-13                (Carried) 
   

  Motion by Councilmember Porath 
 Second by Councilmember Gilbert 

 
WHEREAS, Act 621 of P.A. 1978 provides for a uniform budgeting system for local 
units of government; and 
 
WHEREAS, Act 275 of P.A. of 1980 further prohibits deficit spending by local units 
of government; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the City’s 2015 – 2016 Revenue and 
Expenditure Report through April 2016, and finds that it is not in deficit; however, 
certain department activity line items may be in deficit; and 
 

City Council Packet 43 May 23, 2016



WHEREAS, the City Council has received a Budget Amendment Summary and 
Revenue and Expenditure Reports reflecting proposed changes in budgeted items; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, new budget amounts necessitate adjustments to the original adopted 
budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, said supplemental documentation shows the new proposed revenue 
and expenditures by fund. 
 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council hereby authorizes 
and directs the city manager to make all necessary end-year budget adjustment 
amendments to Fund 101 (General Fund) and Fund 202 (Major Street Fund) in 
accordance with the supplemental documentation (pages 83 to 100) attached. 
  

   YES: Porath, Abrams, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
YARMY AND PARKRIDGE BIDS 
 
 Resolution No. 160509-14       (Carried) 

 
  Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams 
  Second by Councilmember Hicks 

 
WHEREAS, the city owns, operates, and maintains a system of major and local 
streets; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city has drafted and funded a 20 year street plan that includes a 
mix of fixes for streets in various states of need; and 
 
WHEREAS, the first phase of the plan includes a rehabilitation for Yarmy Drive and 
a surface treatment for the entire Parkridge Subdivision as part of the preventative 
maintenance component; and 
 
WHEREAS, these repairs were engineered and bid in 2015 and again in 2016 as 
projects contingent upon securing the proposed street levy in accordance with the 
City’s Purchasing Ordinance, Chapter 2, Article VI, Section 2-402; and 
 
WHEREAS, the 20 year street levy was approved on May 3, 2016, with collections 
to begin in 2016; and 

 
WHEREAS, the city received four valid and qualified bids in 2016. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council 
accepts the low bid of $222,484.28 for completion of both projects as specified, said 
bid submitted by Lois Kay Contracting Co., expenses to be appropriated to the 
Local Street Fund. 

City Council Packet 44 May 23, 2016



 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City directs the Mayor 
to execute the contract with Lois Kay Contracting Co., inclusive of a 10% 
contingency. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council approves 
and directs the Mayor to execute the proposal from Rowe Professional Services 
Company for the provision of construction engineering services related to this 
project in the amount of $34,200. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the finance director is to make necessary 
adjustments to the current year budget to reflect completion of 40% of this project in 
the current fiscal year. 
 
Discussion Ensued. 
 

   YES: Abrams, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
PUBLIC UTILITY CONNECTION AGREEMENT 
 
 Resolution No. 160509-15       (Carried) 

 
  Motion by Councilmember Florence 
  Second by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams 

 
WHEREAS, the City owns, operates, and maintains a water distribution system and 
sewer collection system in conjunction with and as a party to the Genesee County 
Drain Commission -  Water and Waste Services Division (County); and 
 
WHEREAS, the County and City both collect connection fees for new uses that 
connect to the system, with the determination of the number of Units being 
established by the County rate sheet for Residential Equivalent Units (REU’s); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City and County do not agree on the application of this chart as it 
applies to the Springvale Assisted Living facility; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County has agreed to approve the permit with the assignment of 
units in the amount that the City determined to be appropriate, provided the 
developer, City, and County enter into an agreement to assess long-term flow of the 
facility and thereby determine final unit determination after 24 months. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council 
hereby agrees to enter into the Public Utility Connection Agreement with Genesee 
County and the owner of Springvale Assisted Living as included in the Packet 
Supplement for the May 9, 2016 City Council Meeting, and further directs the Mayor 
to execute said agreement on behalf of the city. 
 

  Discussion Ensued.  

City Council Packet 45 May 23, 2016



   YES: Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Abrams. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
MEETING OPEN TO THE PUBLIC: 
 
Steve Shumaker resides at 7446 Country Meadow, suggested instead of having multiple 
rate increases on the utilities just double the rate to prevent having as many increases.  
 
Dennis Cramer resides at 5299 Worchester Drive, commented he thought the whole object 
of the KWA was to service three counties as a consortium independent of Detroit Water 
Authority. 
 
REMARKS BY COUNCILMEMBERS: 
 
Councilmember Porath remarked they couldn’t asked for a nicer group of people on SOS 
committee.   
 
Councilmember Hicks thanked Sharon Shumaker for the donation to the park.  
 
Councilmember Gilbert commented on the light pole on Fortino Drive. 
 
Councilmember Pinkston mentioned that he couldn’t have been happier with the crew they 
had on the SOS committee. He wanted to thank them all.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Abrams also commented about the light pole. He commented on the 
article in the view in regards to the milage.  
 
Mayor Krueger wanted to thank everyone on the SOS committee and the passing of the 
milage will be a positive thing for the city.   
 
Adjournment 
 
 Resolution No. 160509-16       (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Councilmember Gilbert 
  Second by Councilmember Florence 
 
 I Move the Swartz Creek City Council adjourn the regular meeting at 8:57 pm. 
 
  Unanimous Voice Vote. 
 
   
___________________________   _____________________________ 
David A. Krueger, Mayor     Connie Eskew, City Clerk   
    

City Council Packet 46 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 47 May 23, 2016



Water revenue sources Required In place Difference Customers Units Consumption
Per Unit 
Charge

Charge 
per ccf

Ready to serve fees 619,832 165,607 -454,225 2,217 - 22,107,303 $51.22 -
Commodity fees 1,578,949 15,350 -1,563,599 - 22,107,303 - $7.0728

Total 2,198,781 180,957 -2,017,824

Sewer revenue sources Required In place Difference Customers Units Consumption
Per Unit 
Charge

Charge 
per ccf

Ready to serve fees 791,632 7,230 -784,402 5,781,378 3,735 22,347,692 $52.50 -
Commodity fees 487,221 9,000 -478,221 5,781,378 3,735 22,347,692 - $2.1399

Total 1,278,852 16,230 -1,262,622

Sample Water Bills

Usage (cubic feet) Monthly Quarterly Yearly $51.22 $7.0728
0 $17.07 $51.22 $204.88 $52.50 $2.1399

500 $28.86 $86.58 $346.34
1000 $40.65 $121.95 $487.79
1500 $52.44 $157.31 $629.25
2000 $64.23 $192.68 $770.70
2500 $76.01 $228.04 $912.16
3000 $87.80 $263.40 $1,053.62

Sample Sewer Bills n Total Utility Bills

Usage (cubic feet) Monthly Quarterly Yearly Monthly Quarterly Yearly
0 $17.50 $52.50 $210.01 $34.57 $103.72 $414.90

500 $21.07 $63.20 $252.81 $49.93 $149.79 $599.15
1000 $24.63 $73.90 $295.61 $65.28 $195.85 $783.40
1500 $28.20 $84.60 $338.41 $80.64 $241.91 $967.66
2000 $31.77 $95.30 $381.21 $95.99 $287.98 $1,151.91
2500 $35.33 $106.00 $424.00 $111.35 $334.04 $1,336.16
3000 $38.90 $116.70 $466.80 $126.70 $380.10 $1,520.42

5

Proposed Rates and Examples (Metered Accounts)

City Council Packet 48 May 23, 2016

azettel
Text Box

azettel
Text Box
This is one of many sheets used to calculate rates based upon budgetary needs, number of customers (units for sewer), anticipated consumption, and expense apportionment.



Sewer revenue sources Required In place Difference Customers Units Consumption
Per Unit 
Charge

Charge 
per ccf

Ready to serve fees 502,755 6,680 -496,075 5,781,378 3,735 22,107,303 $33.20 -
Commodity fees 145,803 9,550 -136,253 5,781,378 3,735 22,107,303 $9.12 -

$82.29 -

Total 648,558 16,230 -632,328 $124.61

6

Proposed Rates and Examples (Non-metered Accounts)

Non-meter County Fee

City Council Packet 49 May 23, 2016

azettel
Text Box
This is the unit rate for sewer in which a water meter is not available to measure consumption.



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

This First Amendment to Lease Agreement (this “Amendment”) is made effective as of the latter signature 
date hereof (the “Effective Date”) by and between City of Swartz Creek, a Michigan municipal corporation 
(“Landlord”) and New Par d/b/a Verizon Wireless (“Tenant”) (Landlord and Tenant being collectively 
referred to herein as the “Parties”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Landlord owns the real property described on Exhibit A   attached hereto and by this reference 
made a part hereof (the “Parent Parcel”); and 

WHEREAS, Landlord (or its predecessor-in-interest) and Tenant (or its predecessor-in-interest) entered into 
that certain Lease Agreement dated June 19, 1997 (as the same may have been amended, collectively, the 
“Lease”), pursuant to which  the Tenant leases a portion of the Parent Parcel and is the beneficiary of  certain 
easements for access and public utilities, all as more particularly described in the Lease (such leasehold and 
easement rights and interests, collectively, the “Leased Premises”), which Leased Premises are also described 
on  Exhibit A ; and 

WHEREAS, Tenant, Verizon Communications Inc., a Delaware corporation, and other parties identified 
therein, entered into a Management Agreement and a Master Prepaid Lease, both with an effective date of 
March 27, 2015 and both with ATC Sequoia LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“American Tower”), 
pursuant to which American Tower subleases, manages, operates and maintains, as applicable, the Leased 
Premises, all as more particularly described therein; and 

WHEREAS, Tenant has granted American Tower a limited power of attorney (the “POA”) to, among other 
things, prepare, negotiate, execute, deliver, record and/or file certain documents on behalf of Tenant, all as 
more particularly set forth in the POA; and 

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the terms of the Lease to extend the term thereof and to 
otherwise modify the Lease as expressly provided herein. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual covenants set forth herein and 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt, adequacy, and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. One-Time Payment.  Tenant shall pay to Landlord a one-time payment in the amount of Forty Thousand 
and 00/100 Dollars ($40,000.00), payable within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date and subject to the 
following conditions precedent:  (a) Tenant’s receipt of this Amendment executed by Landlord, on or 
before June 3, 2016; (b) Tenant’s confirmation that Landlord’s statements as further set forth in this 
Amendment are true, accurate, and complete, including verification of Landlord’s ownership; (c) Tenant’s 
receipt of any documents and other items reasonably requested by Tenant in order to effectuate the 
transaction and payment contemplated herein; and (d) receipt by Tenant of an original Memorandum (as 
defined herein) executed by Landlord. 
 

2. Lease Term Extended.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Amendment or in the 
Lease, the Parties agree that the Lease originally commenced on June 19, 1997.  Tenant shall have the 
option to extend the Lease for each of six (6) additional five (5) year renewal terms (each a “New 
Renewal Term” and, collectively, the “New Renewal Terms”).  The first New Renewal Term shall 
commence simultaneously with the expiration of the Lease, taking into account all existing renewal 
term(s) (each an “Existing Renewal Term” and, collectively, the “Existing Renewal Terms”) available 
under the Lease.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Lease, (a) all Existing 
Renewal Terms and New Renewal Terms shall automatically renew unless Tenant notifies Landlord that 
Tenant elects not to renew the Lease not less than sixty (60) days prior to the commencement of the 

City Council Packet 50 May 23, 2016

azettel
Text Box
Verizon Lease Offer

azettel
Callout
Cash Payment

azettel
Callout
30 Year Extension



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

next Renewal Term (as defined below) and (b) Landlord shall be able to terminate this Lease only in the 
event of a material default by Tenant, which default is not cured within sixty (60) days of Tenant’s receipt 
of written notice thereof, provided, however, in the event that Tenant has diligently commenced to cure 
a material default within sixty (60) days of Tenant’s actual receipt of notice thereof and reasonably 
requires additional time beyond the 60-day cure period described herein to effect such cure, Tenant shall 
have such additional time as is necessary (beyond the 60-day cure period) to effect the cure.  References 
in this Amendment to “Renewal Term” shall refer, collectively, to the Existing Renewal Term(s) and the 
New Renewal Term(s).  The Landlord hereby agrees to execute and return to Tenant an original 
Memorandum of Lease in the form and of the substance attached hereto as Exhibit B and by this 
reference made a part hereof (the “Memorandum”) executed by Landlord, together with any applicable 
forms needed to record the Memorandum, which forms shall be supplied by Tenant to Landlord. 
 

3. Rent and Escalation. The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that the rental payment under the Lease 
is currently and shall remain Nineteen Thousand Six Hundred Ninety Eight and 96/100 Dollars 
($19,698.96) per year (the “Rent”).  Commencing on June 19, 2017 and on the beginning of each 
Renewal Term thereafter, Rent due under the Lease shall increase by an amount equal to twenty percent 
(20%) of the then current rent.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Lease, all Rent 
and any other payments expressly required to be paid by Tenant to Landlord under the Lease and this 
Amendment shall be paid to CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK MI. The escalations in this paragraph shall be the 
only escalations to the Rent and any/all escalations in the Lease are hereby null and void and of no 
further force and effect. 
 

4. Revenue Share.  Section 31(f) of the Lease shall remain in full force and effect, and shall be subject to the 
increases and escalations described in Section 3 above. 
 

5. Landlord and Tenant Acknowledgments.  Except as modified herein, the Lease and all provisions 
contained therein remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and affirmed.  The Parties 
hereby agree that no defaults exist under the Lease.  To the extent Tenant needed consent and/or 
approval from Landlord for any of Tenant’s activities at and uses of the site prior to the Effective Date, 
including subleasing to American Tower, Landlord’s execution of this Amendment is and shall be 
considered consent to and approval of all such activities and uses and confirmation that no additional 
consideration is owed to Landlord for such activities and uses.  Landlord hereby acknowledges and 
agrees that Tenant shall not need consent or approval from, or to provide notice to, Landlord for any 
future activities at or uses of the Leased Premises, including, without limitation, subleasing and licensing 
to additional customers, installing, modifying, repairing, or replacing improvements within the Leased 
Premises, and/or assigning all or any portion of Tenant’s interest in this Lease, as modified by this 
Amendment. Tenant and Tenant’s sublessees and customers shall have vehicular (specifically including 
truck) and pedestrian access to the Leased Premises from a public right of way on a 24 hours per day, 7 
days per week basis, together with utilities services to the Leased Premises from a public right of way.  
Upon request by Tenant and at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, Landlord hereby agrees to promptly 
execute and return to Tenant building permits, zoning applications and other forms and documents, 
including a memorandum of lease, as required for the use of the Leased Premises by Tenant and/or 
Tenant’s customers, licensees, and sublessees. The terms, provisions, and conditions of this Section shall 
survive the execution and delivery of this Amendment. 
 

6. Limited Right of First Refusal. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, this paragraph 
shall not apply to any fee simple sale of the Parent Parcel from Landlord to any prospective purchaser 
that is not a Third Party Competitor (as herein defined) or to American Tower.  If Landlord receives an 
offer or desires to offer to:  (i) sell or convey any interest (including, but not limited to, leaseholds or 
easements) in any real property of which the Leased Premises is a part to any person or entity directly or 

City Council Packet 51 May 23, 2016

azettel
Callout
Status quo rent



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

indirectly engaged in the business of owning, acquiring, operating, managing, investing in or leasing 
wireless telecommunications infrastructure (any such person or entity, a “Third Party Competitor”) or (ii) 
assign all or any portion of Landlord’s interest in the Lease to a Third Party Competitor (any such offer, 
the “Offer”), Tenant shall have the right, exercisable in Tenant’s sole and absolute discretion, of first 
refusal to purchase the real property or other interest being offered by Landlord in connection with the 
Offer on the same terms and conditions.  If Tenant elects, in its sole and absolute discretion, to exercise 
its right of first refusal as provided herein, Tenant must provide Landlord with notice of its election not 
later than forty-five (45) days after Tenant receives written notice from Landlord of the Offer.  If Tenant 
elects not to exercise Tenant’s right of first refusal with respect to an Offer as provided herein, Landlord 
may complete the transaction contemplated in the Offer with the Third Party Competitor on the stated 
terms and price but with the express condition that such sale is made subject to the terms of the Lease, 
as modified by this Amendment.  Landlord hereby acknowledges and agrees that any sale or conveyance 
by Landlord in violation of this Section is and shall be deemed to be null and void and of no force and 
effect. The terms, provisions, and conditions of this Section shall survive the execution and delivery of 
this Amendment.  For the avoidance of doubt, American Tower, its affiliates and subsidiaries, shall not be 
considered a Third Party Competitor and this provision shall not apply to future transactions with 
American Tower, its affiliates and subsidiaries.    
 

7. Landlord Statements.  Landlord hereby represents and warrants  to Tenant that:  (i) to the extent 
applicable, Landlord is duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing in the jurisdiction in which 
Landlord was organized, formed, or incorporated, as applicable, and is otherwise in good standing and 
authorized to transact business in each other jurisdiction in which such qualifications are required; (ii) 
Landlord has the full power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this 
Amendment, and, to the extent applicable, the person(s) executing  this Amendment on behalf of 
Landlord, have the authority to enter into and deliver this Amendment on behalf of Landlord; (iii) no 
consent, authorization, order, or approval of, or filing or registration with, any governmental authority or 
other person or entity is required for the execution and delivery by Landlord of this Amendment; (iv) 
Landlord is the sole owner of the Leased Premises and all other portions of the Parent Parcel; (v) there 
are no agreements, liens, encumbrances, claims, claims of lien, proceedings, or other matters (whether 
filed or recorded in the applicable public records or not) related to, encumbering, asserted against,  
threatened against, and/or pending with respect to the Leased Premises or any other portion of the 
Parent Parcel which do or could (now or any time in the future) adversely impact, limit, and/or impair 
Tenant’s rights under the Lease, as amended and modified by this Amendment; and (vi) the square 
footage of the Leased Premises is the greater of Tenant’s existing improvements on the Parent Parcel or 
the land area conveyed to Tenant under the Lease. The representations and warranties of Landlord made 
in this Section shall survive the execution and delivery of this Amendment.  Landlord hereby does and 
agrees to indemnify Tenant for any damages, losses, costs, fees, expenses, or charges of any kind 
sustained or incurred by Tenant as a result of the breach of the representations and warranties made 
herein or if any of the representations and warranties made herein prove to be untrue. The 
aforementioned indemnification shall survive the execution and delivery of this Amendment. 
 

8. Confidentiality. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Lease or in this Amendment, 
Landlord agrees and acknowledges that all the terms of this Amendment and the Lease and any 
information furnished to Landlord by Tenant or American Tower in connection therewith shall be and 
remain confidential. Except with Landlord’s family, attorney, accountant, broker, lender, a prospective 
fee simple purchaser of the Parent Parcel, or if otherwise required by law, Landlord shall not disclose any 
such terms or information without the prior written consent of Tenant. The terms and provisions of this 
Section shall survive the execution and delivery of this Amendment.   
 

City Council Packet 52 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

9. Notices.  All notices must be in writing and shall be valid upon receipt when delivered by hand, by 
nationally recognized courier service, or by First Class United States Mail, certified, return receipt 
requested to the addresses set forth herein; To Landlord at: 8083 Civic Drive, Swartz Creek, MI 48473; To 
Tenant at: Verizon Wireless, Attn. Network Real Estate, 180 Washington Valley Road, Bedminster, NJ  
07921; and also with copy to:  American Tower, Attn: Land Management, 10 Presidential Way, Woburn, 
MA 01801, and also with copy to: Attn Legal Dept. 116 Huntington Avenue, Boston, MA  02116.  Any of 
the Parties, by thirty (30) days prior written notice to the others in the manner provided herein, may 
designate one or more different notice addresses from those set forth above.  Refusal to accept delivery 
of any notice or the inability to deliver any notice because of a changed address for which no notice was 
given as required herein, shall be deemed to be receipt of any such notice.   
 

10. Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts, each of which when so 
executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original and all of which, when taken together, shall 
constitute one and the same instrument, even though all Parties are not signatories to the original or the 
same counterpart.  Furthermore, the Parties may execute and deliver this Amendment by electronic 
means such as .pdf or similar format.  Each of the Parties agrees that the delivery of the Amendment by 
electronic means will have the same force and effect as delivery of original signatures and that each of 
the Parties may use such electronic signatures as evidence of the execution and delivery of the 
Amendment by all Parties to the same extent as an original signature. 

 
11. Governing Law.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Lease and in this 

Amendment, the Lease and this Amendment shall be governed by and construed in all respects in 
accordance with the laws of the State or Commonwealth in which the Leased Premises is situated, 
without regard to the conflicts of laws provisions of such State or Commonwealth. 

 
12. Waiver.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall Landlord or Tenant 

be liable to the other for, and Landlord and Tenant hereby waive, to the fullest extent permitted under 
applicable law, the right to recover incidental, consequential (including, without limitation, lost profits, 
loss of use or loss of business opportunity), punitive, exemplary and similar damages. 

 
13. Tenant’s Securitization Rights; Estoppel.  Landlord hereby consents to the granting by Tenant and/or 

American Tower of one or more leasehold mortgages, collateral assignments, liens, and/or other security 
interests (collectively, a “Security Interest”) in Tenant's (or American Tower’s) interest in this Lease, as 
amended, and all of Tenant’s (or American Tower’s) property and fixtures attached to and lying within 
the Leased Premises and further consents to the exercise by Tenant's (or American Tower’s) mortgagee 
(“Tenant’s Mortgagee”) of its rights to exercise its remedies, including without limitation foreclosure, 
with respect to any such Security Interest. Landlord shall recognize the holder of any such Security 
Interest of which Landlord is given prior written notice (any such holder, a “Holder”) as “Tenant” 
hereunder in the event a Holder succeeds to the interest of Tenant and/or American Tower hereunder by 
the exercise of such remedies.  Landlord further agrees to execute a written estoppel certificate within 
thirty (30) days of written request of the same by Tenant, American Tower or Holder. 

 
14. Taxes.  The Parties hereby agree that Section 9 of the Lease is deleted in its entirety.  During the term of 

the Lease, Landlord shall pay when due all real property, personal property, and other taxes, fees and 
assessments attributable to the Parent Parcel, including the Leased Premises.  Tenant hereby agrees to 
reimburse Landlord for  any personal property taxes in addition to any increase in real property taxes 
levied against the Parent Parcel, to the extent both are directly attributable to Tenant's improvements on 
the Leased Premises (but not, however, taxes or other assessments attributable to periods prior to the 
Effective Date), provided, however, that Landlord must furnish written documentation (the substance 
and form of which shall be reasonably satisfactory to Tenant) of such personal property taxes or real 

City Council Packet 53 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

property tax increase to Tenant along with proof of payment of same by Landlord.  Anything to the 
contrary notwithstanding, Tenant shall not be obligated to reimburse Landlord for any applicable taxes 
unless Landlord requests such reimbursement within one (1) year after the date such taxes became due.  
Landlord shall submit requests for reimbursement in writing to: American Tower Corporation, Attn: 
Landlord Relations, 10 Presidential Way, Woburn, MA 01801 unless otherwise directed by Tenant from 
time to time.  Subject to the requirements set forth in this Section, Tenant shall make such 
reimbursement payment within forty-five (45) days of receipt of a written reimbursement request from 
Landlord.  Tenant shall pay applicable personal property taxes directly to the local taxing authority to the 
extent such taxes are billed and sent directly by the taxing authority to Tenant.  If Landlord fails to pay 
when due any taxes affecting the Parent Parcel as required herein, Tenant shall have the right, but not 
the obligation, to pay such taxes on Landlord’s behalf and: (i) deduct the full amount of any such  taxes 
paid by Tenant on Landlord’s behalf from any future payments required to be made by Tenant to 
Landlord hereunder; (ii) and demand reimbursement from Landlord, which reimbursement payment 
Landlord shall make within thirty (30) days of such demand by Tenant; and/or (iii) collect from Landlord 
any such tax payments made by Tenant on Landlord’s behalf  by any lawful means. 
 

 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW] 

  

City Council Packet 54 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

LANDLORD: 
 

City of Swartz Creek,  
a Michigan municipal corporation  
 
 
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 
Title: _________________________________ 
Date: _________________________________ 

 

 
 
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 
Title: _________________________________ 
Date: _________________________________ 
 
 

 

 

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON NEXT PAGE] 
 

 

  

City Council Packet 55 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

TENANT: 
 
New Par d/b/a Verizon Wireless 
 
By:  ATC Sequoia LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
Title:  Attorney-in-Fact  
 
 
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 
Title: _________________________________ 
Date: _________________________________  

City Council Packet 56 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

EXHIBIT A 
 

This Exhibit A may be replaced at Tenant’s option as described below 
 

PARENT PARCEL 
 

Tenant shall have the right to replace this description with a description obtained from Landlord’s deed (or 
deeds) that include the land area encompassed by the Lease and Tenant’s improvements thereon 

 
The Parent Parcel consists of the entire legal taxable lot owned by Landlord as described in a deed (or deeds) 
to Landlord of which the Leased Premises is a part thereof with such Parent Parcel being described below: 
 

 
 

LEASED PREMISES 
 

Tenant shall have the right to replace this description with a description obtained from the Lease or from a 
description obtained from an as-built survey conducted by Tenant. 

 
The Leased Premises consists of that portion of the Parent Parcel as defined in the Lease which shall include 
access and utilities easements.  The square footage of the Leased Premises shall be the greater of: (i) the land 
area conveyed to Tenant in the Lease; (ii) Tenant’s existing improvements on the Parent Parcel; or (iii) the 
legal description or depiction below. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 57 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

EXHIBIT A (continued) 
ACCESS AND UTILITIES 

 
The access and utility easements include all easements of record as well that portion of the Parent Parcel 

currently utilized by Tenant for ingress, egress and utility purposes from the Leased Premises to and from a 

public right of way including but not limited to: 

 

 

 

 

City Council Packet 58 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

EXHIBIT B 

 

FORM OF MEMORANDUM OF LEASE 
  

City Council Packet 59 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
MEMORANDUM OF LEASE 

 
This Memorandum of Lease (the “Memorandum”) is entered into on the __________ day of 
__________________, 201___ by and between City of Swartz Creek, a Michigan municipal corporation 
(“Landlord”) and New Par d/b/a Verizon Wireless (“Tenant”). 
 
NOTICE is hereby given of the Lease (as defined and described below) for the purpose of recording and giving 
notice of the existence of said Lease.  To the extent that notice of such Lease has previously been recorded, 
then this Memorandum shall constitute an amendment of any such prior recorded notice(s). 
 
1. Parent Parcel and Lease.  Landlord is the owner of certain real property being described in Exhibit A 

attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof (the “Parent Parcel”).  Landlord (or its 
predecessor-in-interest) and Tenant (or its predecessor-in-interest) entered into that certain Lease 
Agreement dated June 19, 1997 (as the same may have been amended, renewed, extended, restated, 
and/or modified from time to time, collectively, the “Lease”), pursuant to which the Tenant leases a 
portion of the Parent Parcel and is the beneficiary of certain easements for access and public utilities, all 
as more particularly described in the Lease (such leasehold and easement rights and interests, 
collectively, the “Leased Premises”), which Leased Premises is also described on Exhibit A attached 
hereto and by this reference made a part hereof. 
 

2. American Tower.  Tenant, Verizon Communications Inc., a Delaware corporation, and other parties 
identified therein, entered into a Management Agreement and a Master Prepaid Lease, both with an 
effective date of March 27, 2015 and both with ATC Sequoia LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
(“American Tower”), pursuant to which American Tower subleases, manages, operates and maintains, as 
applicable, the Leased Premises, all as more particularly described therein.  In connection with these 
responsibilities, Tenant has also granted American Tower a limited power of attorney (the “POA”) to, 
among other things, prepare, negotiate, execute, deliver, record and/or file certain documents on behalf 
of Tenant, all as more particularly set forth in the POA. 
 

3. Expiration Date.  Subject to the terms, provisions, and conditions of the Lease, and assuming the exercise 
by Tenant of all renewal options contained in the Lease, the final expiration date of the Lease would be 
June 18, 2052.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall Tenant be required to exercise any 

 
 
Prepared by and Return to:  
American Tower 
10 Presidential Way 
Woburn, MA  01801  
Attn:  Land Management/Samantha A. O’Malley, Esq. 
ATC Site No: 412754 
ATC Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 
Assessor’s Parcel No(s): _______________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
State of Michigan 
County of Genesee 

City Council Packet 60 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

option to renew the term of the Lease. 
 

4. Leased Premises Description.  Tenant shall have the right, exercisable by Tenant at any time during the 
original or renewal terms of the Lease, to cause an as-built survey of the Leased Premises to be prepared 
and, thereafter, to replace, in whole or in part, the description(s) of the Leased Premises set forth on 
Exhibit A with a legal description or legal descriptions based upon such as-built survey.  Upon Tenant’s 
request, Landlord shall execute and deliver any documents reasonably necessary to effectuate such 
replacement, including, without limitation, amendments to this Memorandum and to the Lease. 
 

5. Right of First Refusal.  There is a right of first refusal in the Lease. 
   

6. Effect/Miscellaneous.  This Memorandum is not a complete summary of the terms, provisions and 
conditions contained in the Lease.  In the event of a conflict between this Memorandum and the Lease, 
the Lease shall control.  Landlord hereby grants the right to Tenant to complete and execute on behalf of 
Landlord any government or transfer tax forms necessary for the recording of this Memorandum.  This 
right shall terminate upon recording of this Memorandum. 
 

7. Notices. All notices must be in writing and shall be valid upon receipt when delivered by hand, by 
nationally recognized courier service, or by First Class United States Mail, certified, return receipt 
requested to the addresses set forth herein; To Landlord at:  8083 Civic Drive, Swartz Creek, MI 48473, To 
Tenant at: Verizon Wireless, Attn. Network Real Estate, 180 Washington Valley Road, Bedminster, NJ  
07921; and also with copy to:  American Tower, Attn: Land Management, 10 Presidential Way, Woburn, 
MA 01801, and also with copy to: Attn Legal Dept. 116 Huntington Avenue, Boston, MA  02116.  Any of 
the parties hereto, by thirty (30) days prior written notice to the other in the manner provided herein, 
may designate one or more different notice addresses from those set forth above.  Refusal to accept 
delivery of any notice or the inability to deliver any notice because of a changed address for which no 
notice was given as required herein, shall be deemed to be receipt of any such notice. 

 
8. Counterparts.  This Memorandum may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which when so 

executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original and all of which, when taken together, shall 
constitute one and the same instrument.  

 
9. Governing Law.  This Memorandum shall be governed by and construed in all respects in accordance 

with the laws of the State or Commonwealth in which the Leased Premises is situated, without regard to 
the conflicts of laws provisions of such State or Commonwealth. 

 
 
 

[SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 61 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have each executed this Memorandum as of the day and year 

set forth below.  

 
LANDLORD 

 
City of Swartz Creek,  
a Michigan municipal corporation  
 
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 
Title: _________________________________ 
Date: _________________________________ 

2 WITNESSES 
 
 
 
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 
 
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 

  
 

WITNESS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
 

State/Commonwealth of _____________________  
 
County of ________________________ 
 
 On this ____ day of _____________________, 201___, before me, __________________________ 
the undersigned Notary Public, personally appeared _____________________________________________, 
who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed 
to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their 
authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument, the person(s) or the entity 
upon which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 

 

 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Notary Public 
Print Name: _________________________ 
My commission expires: _______________    [SEAL] 
 

 

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON NEXT PAGE]  

City Council Packet 62 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

LANDLORD 
 

City of Swartz Creek,  
a Michigan municipal corporation  
 
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 
Title: _________________________________ 
Date: _________________________________ 

2 WITNESSES 
 
 
 
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 
 
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 

  
 

WITNESS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
 

State/Commonwealth of _____________________  
 
County of ________________________ 
 
 On this ____ day of _____________________, 201___, before me, __________________________ 
the undersigned Notary Public, personally appeared _____________________________________________, 
who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed 
to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their 
authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument, the person(s) or the entity 
upon which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 

 

 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Notary Public 
Print Name: _________________________ 
My commission expires: _______________    [SEAL] 
 

 

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON NEXT PAGE] 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 63 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

TENANT 
 

New Par d/b/a Verizon Wireless 
 
By:  ATC Sequoia LLC,  
        a Delaware limited liability company 
Title:  Attorney-in-Fact 
    
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 
Title: _________________________________ 
Date: _________________________________ 

WITNESS 
 
 
 
 
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 
 
Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________ 

  
 

 
WITNESS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts  
 
County of Middlesex 
 
 On this ____ day of _____________________, 201___, before me, the undersigned Notary Public, 
personally appeared __________________________________________________, who proved to me on the 
basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument 
and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and 
that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument, the person(s) or the entity upon which the person(s) 
acted, executed the instrument. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Notary Public 
Print Name: _________________________ 
My commission expires: _______________    [SEAL]    
  

City Council Packet 64 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

EXHIBIT A 
 

This Exhibit A may be replaced at Tenant’s option as described below 
 

PARENT PARCEL 
 

Tenant shall have the right to replace this description with a description obtained from Landlord’s deed (or 
deeds) that include the land area encompassed by the Lease and Tenant’s improvements thereon 

 
The Parent Parcel consists of the entire legal taxable lot owned by Landlord as described in a deed (or deeds) 
to Landlord of which the Leased Premises is a part thereof with such Parent Parcel being described below: 
 

 
 

LEASED PREMISES 
 

Tenant shall have the right to replace this description with a description obtained from the Lease or from a 
description obtained from an as-built survey conducted by Tenant. 

 
The Leased Premises consists of that portion of the Parent Parcel as defined in the Lease which shall include 
access and utilities easements.  The square footage of the Leased Premises shall be the greater of: (i) the land 
area conveyed to Tenant in the Lease; (ii) Tenant’s existing improvements on the Parent Parcel; or (iii) the 
legal description or depiction below. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 65 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

EXHIBIT A (continued) 
ACCESS AND UTILITIES 

 
The access and utility easements include all easements of record as well that portion of the Parent Parcel 

currently utilized by Tenant for ingress, egress and utility purposes from the Leased Premises to and from a 

public right of way including but not limited to: 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 66 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

Instructions for completing the Resolution and Consent Affidavit 

 
*IMPORTANT INFORMATION BELOW* 

 
In order to avoid delays in the completion of this transaction, the Resolution and Consent 

Affidavit must be signed by ALL Members, Partners, Directors, Shareholders, Officers or 

Trustees of the organization.  Section 6 of this form allows for the organization to appoint one 

person to sign the remaining documents but ONE HUNDRED PERCENT (100%) of the ownership 

or voting interest of the organization must sign this first.  Failure to comply with these 

instructions or properly indicate the percentage of ownership and/or voting interest will result 

in delays and could require the documents to be re-executed.  If you have any questions, please 

contact your land lease representative.     

  

City Council Packet 67 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by and Return to: 
American Tower 
Attn:  Land Management/Samantha A. O’Malley, Esq. 
10 Presidential Way 
Woburn, MA  01801 
Assessor’s Parcel No(s): _______________ 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RESOLUTION AND CONSENT AFFIDAVIT 
 

City of Swartz Creek, a Michigan municipal corporation, a ________________________ 
 
 

Be it known that, under the pains and penalties of perjury, the undersigned Members, Partners, Directors, 
Shareholders, Officers or Trustees, as applicable (collectively, the “Affiants”) of the above referenced entity 
(the “Landlord”), hereby declare and resolve the following: 
 

1. Landlord (or its predecessor-in-interest) has leased or subleased a portion of land to New Par d/b/a 
Verizon Wireless (the “Tenant”) pursuant to that certain Lease Agreement originally dated June 19, 
1997 (as the same may have been amended, renewed, extended, restated or otherwise modified, 
collectively, the “Lease”). 
 

2. Landlord and Tenant desire to enter into an amendment of the Lease (the “Amendment”) in order to 
extend the term thereof and to further amend the Lease as more particularly set forth in the 
Amendment. 
 

3. Landlord is duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing in the jurisdiction of its formation, 
organization, and/or incorporation, as applicable, and is otherwise authorized to transact business 
and in good standing in any other jurisdictions where such qualifications are required.  Landlord has 
full power and authority to enter into and perform Landlord’s obligations under the Amendment and 
the other Transaction Documents (as hereinafter defined), and the Amendment and the other 
Transaction Documents have been duly executed and delivered by Landlord. The Affiants listed 
below  are the only legal and equitable owners of Landlord and are the only members, partners, 
directors, shareholders, officers and/or trustees, as applicable, of Landlord. 
 

4. The Affiants hereby approve of the Transaction Documents  and all of the terms and provisions 
contained therein and declare, resolve and/or affirm, as applicable, that Landlord is hereby 
authorized to enter into the Transaction Documents  with Tenant and effect the transactions 
contemplated therein.  The Affiants hereby declare and affirm that any other corporate and 
shareholder, member, partner, and/or trustee actions required to effectuate the transactions 
contemplated in the Amendment and other Transaction Documents have been completed. 
 

5. The Affiants also declare that they have full legal authority to bind Landlord under the laws of the 
State or Commonwealth in which the Leased Premises (as defined in the Amendment)  is located, 

City Council Packet 68 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

and Affiants have the full authority to execute any and all of the Transaction Documents on behalf of 
Landlord and to nominate individuals to act on Landlord’s behalf. 
 

6. The Affiants hereby nominate the below listed individual (the “Nominee”) as attorney-in-fact to 
execute and deliver the Amendment, together with any other documents and agreements, including, 
without limitation, the Memorandum (as defined in the Amendment), required to be executed and 
delivered pursuant to the terms and provisions of the Amendment (the Amendment and all of such 
other aforementioned agreements and documents, collectively, the “Transaction Documents”), on 
behalf of Affiants and Landlord.The Nominee shall have full power and authority to act on behalf of 
Affiants and on behalf of Landlord for purposes of executing and delivering  the Transaction 
Documents and ensuring that Landlord fulfills its obligations thereunder. Additionally, the Nominee 
shall have full authority to direct the manner in which all payments made by Tenant pursuant to the 
Amendment are to be made to Landlord,  including, without limitation, identifying which bank 
account(s) to transfer funds to in the event a wire payment is made by Tenant. 
 
    NOMINEE: (Print Name) ___________________________________ 
     (Address) ___________________________________ 
       ___________________________________ 
       ___________________________________ 
 

7. This Resolution and Consent Affidavit shall become effective as of the date of the last notarized 
signature of the Affiants listed below. 
 

8. Affiants hereby acknowledge and agree that Tenant,  its lenders, and its title insurance company are 
relying upon, and are entitled to rely upon, this Resolution and Consent Affidavit and the contents 
hereof as a material inducement to entering into the Amendment and other Transaction Documents.  
Tenant, its lenders, and its title insurance company may rely upon a faxed, scanned or otherwise 
electronically reproduced fully-executed copy of this document as if it were an original.   
 

9. This document can only be amended or modified by addendum or an amendment that is fully 
executed and notarized by all Affiants listed hereunder. 

 
 

[SIGNATURE AND NOTARY PAGES TO FOLLOW] 
 
 
  

City Council Packet 69 May 23, 2016



ATC Site No: 412754 
VZW Site No: 139535 

Site Name: Swartz Creek MI SQA 

EXECUTED UNDER THE PAINS AND PENALTIES OF PERJURY ON THE DATE WRITTEN BELOW 
 
 
AFFIANT NO. 1      WITNESS 
 
Signature: _____________________________  Signature: _____________________________ 
Print Name: ____________________________  Print Name: ____________________________ 
Date: _________________________________ 
 
Title:  (circle one) Member, Partner, Director, Shareholder, Officer, Trustee 
 
Percentage Ownership or Voting Interest: _______% Signature: _____________________________ 
       Print Name: ____________________________ 
 
 

 
WITNESS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 
 

State/Commonwealth of _____________________  
 
County of ________________________ 
 
 On this ____ day of _____________________, 201___, before me, __________________________ 
the undersigned Notary Public, personally appeared _____________________________________________, 
who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed 
to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their 
authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument, the person(s) or the entity 
upon which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 
 

 

 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Notary Public 
Print Name: _________________________ 
My commission expires: _______________    [SEAL] 

 
 

  

City Council Packet 70 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 71 May 23, 2016

azettel
Text Box
1997 Verizon Lease



City Council Packet 72 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 73 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 74 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 75 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 76 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 77 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 78 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 79 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 80 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 81 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 82 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 83 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 84 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 85 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 86 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 87 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 88 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 89 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 90 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 91 May 23, 2016

azettel
Text Box
Sunoco Bids



1 
 

 

REQUEST FOR BIDS 
GAS STATION DEMOLITION 

CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
MAY 2016 

 
Overview 

The City of Swartz Creek, Michigan is seeking proposals for the demolition of a gas station, 
including canopy, and removal/disposal of underground tanks and contents, located in the city. 
Work is expected to be completed in the summer of 2016. 

Swartz Creek is located approximately 7 miles west of downtown Flint, Michigan, near the 
western edge of Genesee County. The structure is on a corner lot with access to Miller Road (an 
arterial street) within one mile to I-69. 

Qualification Requirements 

Bids are solicited only from responsible bidders known to be experienced and regularly engaged 
in work of similar character and scope to that covered in this Request for Bids (“RFB”). 
Satisfactory evidence that the bidder has the necessary capital, equipment, licensing, insurance, 
training, certification and personnel to do the work is required. 

Bid Form 

Sealed bids must be submitted on the bid forms furnished by the city. All bids must be filled out 
in ink or type written and shall be legally signed with the complete address of the bidder given 
thereon. All bids must be sealed and labeled "DEMOLITION OF GAS STATION 
STRUCTURES/TANKS - CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK". Bidders not responding to all 
information requested in this RFB may have their bids rejected. The city council reserves the 
right to reject any and all bids and to accept any bid which in its opinion, is most advantageous to 
the city. Bids submitted must remain valid for at least ninety (90) days past the response date 
provided in this RFB. 

Response Date 

To be considered, sealed bids must be received at the City offices, 8083 Civic Drive, Swartz 
Creek, MI 48473, before 2:00 p.m. on May 19, 2016. The City offices are open Monday thru 
Friday, excluding holidays between 8:00 a.m. and 4:30 p.m (closed 12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m.). 
Contractors mailing bids must allow adequate delivery time to assure timely receipt of their bids. 
Sealed envelopes containing bids must be clearly marked on the outside with the contractor’s 
name and “DEMOLITION OF GAS STATION BID- CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK.”  

Opening of Bids 

All bids received will be publicly opened and read at city hall at or soon after 2:00 p.m. on May 
19, 2016. All bidders are invited to be present.  

City Council Packet 92 May 23, 2016



2 
 

Rejection of Bids 

The city reserves the right to reject any or all bids, in part or in their entirety, or to waive any 
information or defect in any bid, or accept any bid which, in its opinion is deemed most 
advantageous to the city. 

Explanations and Alternate Bids 

Explanations desired by a prospective bidder shall be requested of the city in writing, and if 
explanations are necessary, a reply shall be made in the form of an addendum, a copy of which 
will be forwarded to each bidder of record. Every request of such explanations shall be in writing 
and addressed to: Adam Zettel, City of Swartz Creek, 8083 Civic Drive, Swartz Creek, MI 
48473. 

Contract Execution 

The bidder to whom the contract is awarded shall, within ten (10) calendar days after the notice 
of award, enter into a written contract with the city. Failure to execute a contract will be 
considered abandonment of the award and the city shall have no further obligation to that bidder. 

Incurring Costs 

The city is not liable for any costs incurred by contractors prior to the issuance of the contract. 

Material Submitted 

All materials submitted as part of a bid will become the property of the city. The city reserves the 
right to use any and all ideas presented. 

Length of Contract 

Bids shall address, to the greatest extent possible, all possible service delivery impacts, including 
but not limited to, bid prices, equipment, etc., throughout the term of the contract. The city seeks 
to have the demolition of a gas station at 5012 Holland Drive completed within seventy five (75) 
days from signing of a contract. This contract shall also be subject to appropriation by city 
council. In the absence of an appropriation, a contract issued pursuant to this RFB shall be void 
and of no effect. 

Demolition of a Gas Station Bid Specifications 

Definitions 

“bids”- shall be defined as an announcement of terms indicating what items are needed to 
complete a project. 

“bidders”-shall be defined as any person(s) or company that attempts to meet the terms of the 
bid. 

“city”- shall mean the City of Swartz Creek. 

“contract”- shall mean the contract between the City and the Successful Bidder. 

City Council Packet 93 May 23, 2016



3 
 

“successful bidder”- shall be defined as the bidder who is chosen by the City Council to enter 
into contract with the City. 

These definitions are meant as guides for understanding and are not binding explanations. 

Description 

The successful bidder must possess broad expertise in demolition. Services required may include 
any of the following: 

A. Providing advice on matters and participate in the planning related to the demolition and 
clean-up of the structures located at 5012 Holland Drive. (See Appendix A for property 
details). 

B. Creating, reviewing, and revising demolition and clean-up plans. 
C. Preparing necessary reports to the city related to the project’s progress. 
D. Providing project management and inspections during the preparation, demolition, and 

clean-up and providing any requested reports to the zoning/building administrator, or 
their designee. 

E. Professional support and advice to the zoning/building administrator. 
F. Providing other related services as requested by the City of Swartz Creek. 
G. Attending city meetings, public hearings and conferences with funding and regulatory 

agencies, if necessary. 

Qualifications 

A detailed description of the primary contact’s background, as well as the company’s 
background and previous experience shall be included with the proposal. Background 
information and experience shall also be submitted for all key personnel that will be working 
with the city. 

In the event that portions of the work are to be subcontracted or a joint affiliation utilized, detail 
of such affiliation shall be furnished along with the same information as required for the bidder. 

Requirements 

A. Availability and ability to perform the work and coordinate and schedule the work with 
others involved on the project. 

B. Ability to communicate and work effectively with the City of Swartz Creek, its officials, 
administration, staff, and consultants with respect to any of the services required. 

C. Ability to work effectively with public agencies and officials. 
D. Thorough knowledge of the demolition discipline and demolition debris removal, 

including disposal of any hazardous materials, if found on site. 
E. Ability to submit reviews, reports, and inspection results in writing and in a timely 

manner to the City of Swartz Creek, if so requested. 
F. The successful bidder or their representative shall attend any regular or special meetings, 

as requested by the city. 
G. Ability to meet or accomplish the following specific project requirements: 

City Council Packet 94 May 23, 2016



4 
 

1. Successful bidder, at successful bidder’s cost, shall secure the necessary permit, 
including a soil erosion permit if required from Genesee County. 

2. Properly notify utility provider of the pending demolition and request and ensure 
disconnections of utilities, gas, electric, cable TV, and any other utility to the 
commercial building.  

3. Provide to the city, proof of disconnection of all utilities. 
4. Contractor to cut and cap any and all city sewer, storm sewer and water line and 

obtain cut/cap inspection from the city department of public works by calling 
810.635.4464 

5. Demolition and removal of main structure. Including but not limited to: 
a. All foundations, walls, floors, roofs, all types of siding, all wood, brick, steel, 

metal, drywall, paneling, plumbing, electrical heating, ventilation, air 
conditioning, duct work, concrete slabs, refrigeration units, and all structural 
supports. 

6. Demolition and removal of all accessory structures, footings, and concrete slabs.  
7. Removal of three 10,000 gasoline USTs and one 500-gallon heating oil UST in 

accordance with all applicable local, state, and federal laws.  The gasoline USTs are 
registered as “Temporarily Out of Service” with the Michigan Department of 
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs (LARA) as constructed of fiberglass reinforced 
plastic.  They were inspected and noted as empty in 2015. The construction of the 
heating oil UST is unknown. The city makes no warranty as to the actual construction 
material of the USTs. 

Emptying, cleaning, and disposal of the USTs in accordance will all applicable local, 
state, and federal laws.  The USTs shall be emptied of all liquids and sludges, as 
necessary for proper transport and disposal.  The contractor shall provide certification 
of UST destruction, stating that the USTs were properly closed, transported vapor-
free, and either disposed of or rendered useless as USTs and repurposed or recycled. 

All UST contents shall be transported by an appropriately-licensed waste/hazardous 
materials transporter and either disposed of or recycled appropriately in accordance 
with all local, state, and federal laws.  Waste manifests and/or Bills of Lading shall be 
provided to the city.  The city will obtain any necessary generator identification 
status.  Waste characterization and any costs to secure recycling or disposal will be 
solely the cost of the contractor.  The city believes that the USTs contain less than 
six-inches of product each.  The contractor may choose to remove the tanks’ contents 
from the site in a tanker truck or place the contents in 55-gallon drums for removal 
from the site.  If the contractor elects to place the waste in 55-gallon drums, the drums 
must be properly labeled and removed within 30 days.  The contractor will be 
responsible for any releases resulting from 55-gallon drums left on-site pending 
disposal.  The contractor shall include in the bid, the costs to clean and empty the 
USTs.  Units rates for disposal will be accepted either on a per-gallon basis or a per-
drum basis.  Unit rates for per-drum disposal must include the cost of the drums and 
labeling as well as a fixed-cost for transport and disposal. Unit rates for vacuum truck 

City Council Packet 95 May 23, 2016



5 
 

disposal must include fixed costs for transport and any needed tanker wash-out as 
well as a unit rate per gallon for disposal. 

8. Remove the canopy structure and associated bases, elevated concrete pump island 
bases, adjacent pipes and utilities.  The contractor must make every reasonable effort 
to remove dispenser and vent piping without disturbing the existing pavement.  If 
dispenser or vent piping cannot be removed without disturbing the pavement, the 
piping must be adequately capped and will be left in-place.  Capping of pipes will be 
subject to the approval of the city, the city’s consultant, and LARA. 

9. Remove all light poles and bases. 
10. Abate asbestos material noted herein.  The contractor will be required to submit 

appropriate notice (NESHAPS 10- day Notice) to regulating authorities for both the 
building demolition and asbestos abatement, as required by local, state, or federal 
law.   The contractor will be provided with the appropriate information for the 
asbestos inspector to include in the Notice. 

11. As work progresses, carefully clean and keep the project site clean from rubbish and 
refuse.  Appropriate care must be taken to ensure that soils or debris are not tracked 
off-site by vehicle tires and  that soils will not be eroded off-site or into storm sewers.  
Daily cleanup of soils on the ground surface will be required.   

12. Remove all building material, rubbish or refuse from the project site daily; no 
material or debris may be buried on site. 

13. All construction equipment shall be removed from the property as soon as possible. 
14. Furnish to the city all documentation regarding the proper disposal of all rubbish, 

hazardous substances and/or petroleum products, refuse, liquids, and any other debris. 
15. The successful bidder shall keep the surface of the sidewalks and streets affected by 

its work, including decking and temporary paving, in a clean, neat, and safe 
condition, limiting to the extent possible dust and smoke on and around the project 
site. The successful bidder shall sprinkle with water or otherwise treat the site surface 
and surrounding area being used by the contractor (i.e. street, right-of-way, etc.) 
sufficiently to keep down any dust generated during the progress of work. Successful 
bidder must remove all piles of dirt or debris. 

16. All equipment and material used in the demolition process shall be contained within 
the property boundaries or on Holland Drive (conditioned upon approval by the 
Director of Public Works). Unless prior written permission is obtained from property 
owners, the successful bidder shall not use the adjacent properties. 

17. There shall be NO fires of any kind or burning of any debris. 
18. If successful bidder encounters undocumented asbestos or asbestos type material, 

successful bidder shall immediately stop work and notify Michigan Department of 
Environmental Quality Air Quality division and the city and any other appropriate 
governing authority. The successful bidder must show evidence of asbestos 
awareness training for staff involved in the demolition.   

19. Prior to fill/backfill the successful bidder must request a building inspection, by the 
city, of the site and allow the inspector access to take necessary photos, check for 
debris removal, floor removal and inspection of sewer capping. 

City Council Packet 96 May 23, 2016



6 
 

20. Fill/backfill to attain dedicated specified grades: 
a. Shall not be completed as to cause any increase of water velocity or damming of 

surface water as to create a water issue at adjacent or neighboring sites. 
b. All fill material, except MDOT Class II Granular Material (excluding blue clay), 

shall be subject to approval of the city. 
c. Fill material shall be compacted with proper equipment in no more than twelve 

(12) inch layers to a minimum density of 90%.  
d. For approved fill material notify the city’s representative in advance of the 

intention to import material, its location and the city’s name, address, and 
telephone number. 

e. Obtain all fill material from off-site commercial or city- approved sources that are 
free from contamination.  

f. The source of backfill material must be provided to the city.  If the city believes 
that the backfill is of a suspect or unknown origin, soil sample analysis may be 
required, the cost of which shall be borne by the contractor. 

g. Ensure fill materials are free of rock or lumps larger than six (6) inches in greatest 
dimension. Pulverized building materials shall not be used in fill material.  

h. Apply a covering of 6 inches of crushed limestone to areas excavated or exposed 
due to structure removal. 

21. Limit hours of operation to Monday through Friday during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 
6:00 p.m. Special hours of operation outside the normal hours must be approved by 
the city. 

Salvage Rights 

The successful bidder shall have salvage rights to all materials, tanks, furnishings, and other 
personal property that are within the scope for demolition and/or removal for the duration of the 
project. Such rights shall expire upon closeout of the project.  Salvage rights will exclude 
repurposing the USTs to store any quantity of hazardous materials or petroleum products. 

The Proposal 

A response to this RFB must outline in detail the manner in which they would work with the city 
to fulfill the city’s needs. The outline at a minimum shall address: 

A. The designation and location of the bidder’s primary contact (one person preferred), 
support staff and the associate personnel, and the overall relationship, which will be 
established between the bidder and the city. Further, the qualifications and experience of 
the primary and main secondary contacts should be included within the proposal.  

B. Communicating and coordinating procedures. Each bidder shall include, within their 
proposal, the pertinent form(s) to be utilized for progress report(s) to the city. 

C. The bidder’s capabilities to perform the necessary demolition and clean-up. 
D. The general manner in which work will be performed. 
E. The experience and references for those who will perform work. 

City Council Packet 97 May 23, 2016



7 
 

F. A schedule of hourly rates or the separate fixed costs for the demolition and removal of 
debris, including those for labor, equipment, transportation, permits and fees required to 
provide demolition services in accordance with all specifications, terms and conditions in 
this RFB. 

G. The method for assuring total clean-up from demolition. 
H. The location to which demolition debris will be taken and description of how that will 

occur. 
I. Bid should include any cost to obtain necessary permit and materials as to provide 

compliance with local, state, and federal law and this bid. 

Bidder Responsibility 

The City of Swartz Creek will not be liable for any cost incurred in the development of a 
proposal responsive to this request. By submitting a bid to the work, the bidder represents that it 
is fully informed concerning the scope of the project, the requirements of the contract, the 
physical conditions likely encountered in the work, and the character, quality and quantity of the 
services required by the city. If a bidder desires to do a site visit and tour or otherwise observe 
the properties and inside of the structures to better inform bidder of the above, bidder must 
contact the building official, Marty Johnson, through the city office. Site visits are subject to 
availability of the building official. 

The successful bidder shall furnish all labor, materials, supplies, devices, or tools needed to 
perform the required services.  The bidder will not be entitled to additional compensation if it 
later determines that conditions require methods or equipment other than those anticipated in 
making its bid. In addition, the successful bidder shall provide all vehicles and other equipment 
and material necessary for work. Bidders having questions regarding this RFB should request 
clarification prior to submittal of a bid. Negligence or inattention of the bidder in filing a bid, or 
in any phase of the performance of the work, shall be grounds for refusal of the city to agree to 
additional compensation. Bidders having questions regarding this RFB contact the city for 
clarification. 

Safety  

The successful bidder shall comply with the Safety Rules and Regulations of the Associated 
General Contractors of America, the Occupational Safety and Health Standards of the 
Construction Industry, State of Michigan, Department of Energy, Labor & Economic Growth, 
OSHA, for the protection of workers on this project. 

All equipment and work shall conform to the requirements of the Occupational Safety and 
Health Act and Michigan Department of Labor Occupational Safety Standards, as amended.  

The successful bidder shall observe city ordinances relating to obstruction of streets, and shall 
obey all laws and city ordinances controlling or limiting those engaged in the work. The 
successful bidder shall handle the work in a manner that will cause the least inconvenience and 
annoyance to the general public and to the property owners. 

City Council Packet 98 May 23, 2016



8 
 

The successful bidder will be responsible for controlling pedestrian traffic on and near the site in 
order to successfully prevent unauthorized persons from accessing the site.  This may require 
fencing the area or patrolling the area and preventing unauthorized persons from accessing the 
site.  Any site access controls will solely be the obligation of the contractor.   

Pollution Controls 

Under the Authority of Section 112 of the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 1857 (C-7), the 
Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) promulgated 
National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NEHAP) on April 6, 1973 (38 F.R. 
8820). Asbestos was designated a hazardous air pollutant, and standards were set for its use and 
control. Demolition of certain buildings and structures was determined to be a significant source 
of asbestos emissions. 

Contractors are required under section 114(a) of the Clean Air Act allow EPA personnel to freely 
enter facilities or demolition sites, review records, inspect any demolition method, and sample or 
observe any emissions. 

All demolition must be undertaken in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Clean Air 
Act and 40 C.F.R. Section 61.22(d). The Successful Bidder is responsible for compliance with 
NESHAP. The successful bidder shall complete and submit “Notification of Intent to Renovate 
or Demolish” form to the NESHAP Asbestos Program of Michigan’s Department of 
Environmental Quality Air Quality Division and provide a copy to the zoning administrator. This 
form must be mailed at least 10 working days prior to undertaking demolition. 

The City of Swartz Creek has an asbestos survey of the building located at 5012 Holland Drive 
and has identified a small area (~80 square feet) of floor tile that requires abatement. All 
asbestos is to be removed by a properly qualified party and in accordance with MIOSHA, 
Federal Air Quality regulations, MDEQ regulations, and all other applicable laws and 
regulations. A copy of the asbestos survey report is attached as Appendix B.  

The contractor will be required to demonstrate appropriate removal and disposal of the asbestos 
floor tile in accordance with local, state, and federal laws. 

Assignments or Subcontracting 

The successful bidder shall not assign, subcontract or otherwise transfer its duties and/or 
obligations under this proposal, without prior written consent of the city. If the bidder anticipates 
that it will need to subcontract its duties in order to fulfill the contract requirements, that 
information must be disclosed in the bidder’s response. 

Fair Employment Practices 

The successful bidder agrees to not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment, to be hired in the performance of the contract with respect to hire, tenure, term, 
conditions or privileges of employment, or any other matter directly or indirectly related to 
employment, because of sex, race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry handicap or any other 
basis prohibited by state or federal law or regulations. 

City Council Packet 99 May 23, 2016



9 
 

Contractor’s Payment of Taxes, Permits, Etc. 

The successful bidder shall be solely responsible for: 

a. Payment of wages to its work force in compliance with all federal and state laws, 
including the federal and state wage and hour laws. 

b. Payment of any and all FICA, unemployment contributions and other payroll-related 
taxes or contributions required to be paid by the successful bidder under state and 
federal law. 

c. Payment of all applicable federal, state, or municipal taxes, charges or permit fees, 
whether now in force or subsequently enacted. 

d. Payment of any and all suppliers, merchants or vendors from whom the successful 
bidder obtains items and materials related to the contract. 

The successful bidder shall indemnify and hold the city harmless from all claims arising from the 
foregoing payment obligations of the successful bidder. 

Damage to Persons or Property  

The successful bidder also accepts sole responsibility for any damage to any person or damage to 
public, or private property resulting from their performance of the work, whether based on 
negligence or any other legal or equitable claim. 

The successful bidder will protect, defend and hold harmless, the city from any and all damage, 
claim liability, or expenses whatsoever, or amounts paid in compromise there of arising out of or 
connected  with the performance of this contract, including those related to the successful 
bidder’s (or its subcontractors’) negligence. 

Insurance 

A. Liability Coverages 
1. The Successful Bidder shall furnish at his own expense and keep in full 

force during the terms of this contract the following coverages which 
shall list the city as an additional insured: 

• Insurance covering bodily injury in the minimum sum of 
$1,000,000 for each occurrence 

• Pollution liability insurance of not less than $1,000,000 per 
occurance 

• Insurance covering property damage in the minimum sum of 
$200,000 for each occurrence, $100,000 aggregate. 

• Automobile liability insurance in the minimum of $500,000 
combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage. 

2. Workers Compensation Compliance 

Successful bidder shall also comply with all requirements of the Michigan 
Workers’ Compensation Law and shall at his own expense, maintain such 
insurance, including employer’s liability, as will protect him from claims 

City Council Packet 100 May 23, 2016



10 
 

under said law and from any other claims for personal injuries, including 
death which may arise from the operations under the contract, whether 
operations be by himself or anyone directly or indirectly employed by 
him. 

B. Certificates of Insurance 
 
Included in bid package, bidders shall provide the city complete certificates of insurance 
to meet the above requirements. Policies shall be endorsed to provide the city at least 
thirty (30) days written notice of reduction, cancellation, or intent not to renew coverages 
as called for above. 
 
If insurance is canceled, reduced, non-renewed or otherwise is not in effect to the 
minimum required coverage, the successful bidder must cease work on this bid. 
 

C. Submission of Policies and Certificates of Insurance 
 
The successful bidder shall provide the city with a copy of its required insurance policies 
and certificates of insurance as described above. If the successful bidder does not provide 
such materials in the time provided for, the successful bidder will be disqualified and the 
bid will be awarded to the next lowest bidder or in the creation of a new request for bid. 

Quality of Service 

The city expects the successful bidder to maintain all equipment in a clean and well-operating 
fashion, with special consideration for proper maintenance and care of all elements, items and 
equipment mentioned in this document. The successful bidder will operate in a professional 
manner and keep all noise and other nuisances to a minimum at all times while under contract 
with the city. The city is looking to inconveniencing the public as little as possible, considering 
the service the successful bidder is providing. The successful bidder shall file all documents 
outlined in this RFB in a timely and well-organized manner. 

Operation of Vehicles 

The successful bidder shall operate all company vehicles in a manner so as to not impede traffic 
flow on city streets. Company vehicles are not to be left unattended for any reason except for 
emergencies or in the actual performance of the job. When a vehicle is left unattended for the 
actual performance of the job, it shall be according to city codes and ordinance in place at that 
time. 

Support Facilities 

Successful bidder shall have sufficient staff and communications facilities to assure ready 
accessibility and prompt response to the needs of the City. 

Breach of Contract and City’s Right to Terminate Contract 

City Council Packet 101 May 23, 2016



11 
 

In the event that any of the provisions of this bid and/or resulting contract are breached by the 
successful bidder, the city shall give written notice to the successful bidder of the breach or 
pattern of behavior that constitutes the breach and allow the successful bidder to resolve the 
breach or pattern of behavior that constitutes the breach within ten (10) calendar days of the 
successful bidder’s receipt of notice. If the breach or pattern of behavior is not resolved, then the 
city manager of the City of Swartz Creek shall have the right to cancel any contract by sending 
written notice to the successful bidder of cancelation. 

If the successful bidder should be judged bankrupt, if it should make a general assignment for the 
benefit of its creditors, if a receiver should be appointed on account of its insolvency, if it should 
persistently or repeatedly refuse to supply enough labor, materials and/or equipment to meet the 
scope of work of the contract, if it should persistently disregard laws of the State of Michigan 
and/or ordinances of the city, or if it fails to comply and fulfill its obligations under any 
provision of the contract resulting from its bid, the city may, without prejudice to any other right 
or remedy, terminate the contract immediately. 

If the successful bidder fails to perform or complete the demolition and clean-up of the 
residential buildings as agreed or otherwise breaches its duties under this bid or the resulting 
contract, the successful bidder shall be reasonable for any and all costs the city incurs in 
obtaining satisfactory performance of the project and/or litigation costs and attorney’s fees to 
enforce its rights under the bid and this contract. Such relief shall be in addition to any other 
legal and equitable remedies available to the city. 

City’s Right to Modify Contract  

The city reserves the right to negotiate with the successful bidder for a change in terms of the 
contract during the term of the contract and to make adjustment relative to the implementation of 
a change that reduces or modifies the need for qualified project management. If the city and the 
successful bidder are unable to agree on a revised contract, the city may seek new proposals and, 
upon a minimum of ten (10) calendar days written notice from the city, may terminate the 
unexpired portion of the contract. The city shall not be liable for any cost under this section 
beyond the contract price for the period where service was actually provided. 

No Conflict of Interest 

The bidder must provide a statement that it has no conflicting financial or professional interests 
and is qualified to perform the services requested.  

References 

All bidders shall include a list of current and prior projects similar to that proposed in this RFB 
as references for qualifying experience. The name, address, and telephone numbers of the 
responsible individual(s) at the reference project site who may be contacted shall be included. 
Particular attention will be paid to references from other municipalities and/or public sector 
entities within Genesee, Shiawassee, Livingston and Oakland Counties. 

Payment 

City Council Packet 102 May 23, 2016



12 
 

The city shall pay for acceptable work within thirty (30) days of receipt of invoice, except that 
prior to approval of and final payment for the completion of the project, the successful bidder 
must thoroughly clear the project site and any other place affected by the work of all debris to the 
city’s satisfaction, in the city’s sole discretion.  

City Council Packet 103 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 104 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 105 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 106 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 107 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 108 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 109 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 110 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 111 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 112 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 113 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 114 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 115 May 23, 2016



Woodside

Walden

Durwood

Young

Oakview
W

oo
ds

to
ck

M
ar

k 
D

av
id

Birc
hc

re
st

Va
lle

yv
ie

w

C
he

st
er

fie
ld

S
eym

ou r

G
re

en
le

af

C
ardigan

City of  Swartz Creek
0 0.04 0.08 0.12 0.160.02

Miles ®Young & Cardigan
Road Surface Work

City Council Packet 116 May 23, 2016

azettel
Callout
Impassable section of Young Drive

azettel
Callout
Cardigan Drive

azettel
Callout
Work excludes this paved section of Young Drive



City Council Packet 117 May 23, 2016



 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 
MINUTES OF DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY –May 12, 2016 
 
  

 
 
 
 

 

CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 

MINUTES OF THE DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
MAY 12, 2016 

 
The Regular Meeting was called to order at 6:02, by Boardmember Beedy in the Swartz 
Creek City Council Chambers, 8083 Civic Drive.  
 
Board Members Present:  Beedy, Eckerdt (6:07), Gardner, King, Mardlin (6:03), 

Sherman, & Spence. 
 
Board Members Absent: Krueger & Raffaelli. 
 
Staff Present:  Adam Zettel. 
 
Others Present: Dennis and Karen Pinkston. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
 

Resolution No. 160512-01            (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Boardmember Gardner 
  Second by Boardmember Spence 
 

The Swartz Creek City Downtown Development Authority approves the agenda, 
as printed, for the May 12, 2016 DDA Meeting.   

 
YES:  Unanimous Voice Vote. 
NO:    None.  Motion declared carried. 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 

Resolution No. 160512-02            (Carried) 
 

Motion by Boardmember Gardner 
  Second by Boardmember Spence 
 

The Swartz Creek City Downtown Development Authority hereby approves the 
minutes as amended for the April 14, 2015 meeting.  
 

YES:  Unanimous Voice Vote. 
NO:    None.  Motion declared carried. 

  
 

MEETING OPEN TO THE PUBLIC:  
 

City Council Packet 118 May 23, 2016



 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 
MINUTES OF DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY –May 12, 2016 
 
  

 
 
 
 

 

Karen Pinkston spoke on behalf of the Swartz Creek Art Gallery. She indicated that they 
would be interested in using any available funds to support the outfitting of a kiln room 
for teaching at their downtown studio. This features would bring pottery classes online, 
which could account for a large portion of funds to support classes and other facilities.  
 
BUSINESS:  
 
Street Levy Capture Waiver               (Carried) 
 
 Resolution No. 160512-03 
 

Motion by Board Member Eckerdt 
Second by Board Member Gardner 

 
A RESOLUTION BY THE SWARTZ CREEK DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY TO WAIVE ALLOCATION AND CAPTURE OF THE CITY OF 
SWARTZ CREEK STREET LEVY 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek is organized and operates as a home rule 
city pursuant to its charter, and under the provisions of the Home Rule Cities Act, 
1909 P.A. 279, as amended, MCL 117.1, et seq; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek, pursuant to the Michigan Constitution, 
Article IX, subsection 31, may levy additional taxes only with the approval of a 
majority of the qualified electors of the City of Swartz Creek voting thereon; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City Council was granted approval by the electors May 3, 2016 
to levy an amount of up to 4.220 mils for the purpose of constructing and 
repairing the public streets within the City of Swartz Creek; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority (DDA), is a 
governmental entity with an approved development and tax increment financing 
plan, approved under Public Act 197 of 1975, which enables the DDA to capture 
taxes, including said street tax, levied against the tax increment of the district; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the improvements proposed include public infrastructure 
improvements that align directly with the goals and objectives of the DDA 
Development and Tax Increment Financing Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Swartz Creek DDA finds the proposed Swartz Creek City street 
levy to be a direct and proportionate benefit to the DDA. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek DDA hereby waives 
any and all interest in the entire street levy as approved, on May 3, 2016, by the 
electors of the City and as levied annually by the City Council of the City of 

City Council Packet 119 May 23, 2016



 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 
MINUTES OF DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY –May 12, 2016 
 
  

 
 
 
 

 

Swartz Creek and further acknowledges that the ballot question did not include 
any allocation of said levy for capture or use by the DDA. 
 

  YES:  Unanimous Voice Vote. 
NO:    None.  Motion declared carried. 
 

Sunoco Station Update  
 
Adam Zettel said that bids were due next week. This will all but guarantee that the 
Sunoco blight will be gone by mid-summer. After that, the community needs to work 
with Exxon to clean the site. For assisting them in doing so (by granting deed 
restrictions), it is hoped that Exxon may support some improvements on or near the site. 
Depending on how this process goes, the DDA may or may not be in a position to 
spend some resources to improve this site and nearby streetscape. 
 
Fortino Drive Conceptual Planning Update 
 
A meeting is planned with the developmental experts so more information can be 
shared in June. There may also be interest from the raceway owner 
interest/management to cooperatively plan for reuse of their site. This could alter 
community plans for this public property. 

 
Fiscal Year 2017 Budget  
    
The budget was explained to those members that missed the April meeting. No 
changes were proposed. The board favored release of the façade improvement 
program, with a 60 day response time.  

 
MEETING OPEN TO PUBLIC:  
 
No Comments. 
 
REMARKS BY BOARD MEMBERS: 
 
Boardmember Eckerdt said he would like to see more street lamps on Miller Road. 
Boardmember King also likes the streetscape concept. 
Boardmember Mardlin spoke about the road work on Seymour Road. He felt the quality 
was not the best. He also is waiting for the Sunoco to come down. 
Boardmember Spence said she has a donation coming for the Family Movie Night. 
Boardmember Sherman is excited about the progress of the whole community. 
Boardmember Gardern mentioned that the Gass Beck building is having some issues 
and should be looked into. Adam said he would submit complaints based upon this 
information.  
Boardmember Beedy said he is feeling the winds of optimism pick up recently as it 
relates to how the community is improving itself. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
City Council Packet 120 May 23, 2016



 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 
MINUTES OF DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY –May 12, 2016 
 
  

 
 
 
 

 

  
Resolution No. 160512-04            (Carried) 

 
Motion by Boardmember Gardner 

  Second by Boardmember Spence 
 
 The Swartz Creek DDA adjourns the May 12, 2016 DDA meeting at 6:50 p.m. 

 
  YES: Unanimous Voice Vote 
  NO: None.  Motion declared carried 
                                                                                                                                                                                                    
 
__________________________     
Connie King 
Secretary 
 
 

City Council Packet 121 May 23, 2016



Swartz Creek Zoning Board of Appeals 
Draft Minutes: May 18, 2016 
 

1 
 

CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 

MINUTES OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
DATE 05/18/16 

 
The Regular Meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm by Chairman Packer in the Swartz 
Creek City Council Chambers, 8083 Civic Drive. 
 
Board members Present:  Packer, Porath, Smith & Stephens. 
 
Alternates Present:  Alternate Barclay and Pajtas. 
 
Board members Absent Plumb. 
 
Staff Present:  Adam Zettel. 
 
Others Present: None.  
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Resolution No. 160518-01                                 (Carried) 
 

Motion by Board Member Pajtas 
Second by Board Member Porath  
 
The Swartz Creek City Zoning Board of Appeals hereby approves the 
Agenda of the Regular Board Meeting of May 18, 2016 as printed. 
 

   Unanimous Voice Vote 
Motion declared carried 

  
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 
Resolution No. 160518-02                       (Carried) 

 
Motion by Board Member Pajtas 
Second by Board Member Porath 
 
The Swartz Creek City Zoning Board of Appeals hereby approves the 
Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting March 16, 2016, to be approved. 
 

   Unanimous Voice Vote 
Motion declared carried 

 
Meeting Open To The Public: None.  
 
VARIANCE APPLICATION: None.  

City Council Packet 122 May 23, 2016



Swartz Creek Zoning Board of Appeals 
Draft Minutes: May 18, 2016 
 

2 
 

 
INTERPRETATION: None.  
 
APPEALS: None.  
 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
Training Session                  Presentation 
 
Adam Zettel, City Manager, gave a PowerPoint presentation (with paper handouts 
distributed). The training covered general municipal functions in relation to zoning, the 
Zoning Enabling Act, Roberts Rules of Order, the Open Meetings Act, the Freedom of 
Information Act, and coverage of interpretations, variances, and appeals. There was 
also discussion and case examples.   
 
Meeting Open To The Public: None.  
 
Adjourn     
 
 Resolution No. 160518-03                                (Carried) 
 

Motion by Zoning Board of Appeals Board Member Stephens 
Second by Board Member porath  
 
I Move the Swartz Creek Zoning Board of Appeals adjourns the May 18, 2016 
ZBA meeting. 

  
   Unanimous Voice Vote 

Motion declared carried 
 

The board unanimously declared the meeting adjourned at approximately 7:52 p.m. 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Ronald Smith 
Secretary 

City Council Packet 123 May 23, 2016



CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN   
MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMISSION – May 3, 2016  
 

1 
 

 
CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 

SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 
MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

May 3, 2016 
 
Meeting called to order at 7:02 p.m. by Commissioner Stephens. 

 Pledge of Allegiance. 

ROLL CALL: 
 
Commissioners present: Conner, Culinski, Farmer, Florine, Grimes, Krueger, Pinkston, 

Ridley, Stephens. 
 
Commissioners absent: None.   
 
Staff present: Adam Zettel, City Manager. 

 
Others present: Joel McRee.  

 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

 
Resolution No. 160503-01       (Carried) 

 
Motion by Commissioner Conner support by Commissioner Krueger 
The Swartz Creek Planning Commission approves the agenda for the May 3, 
2016 Planning Commission meeting as printed. 

 
Unanimous Voice Vote 

           Motion declared carried. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 
Resolution No. 160503-02     (Carried) 

 
Motion by Commissioner Krueger support by Commissioner Conner the 
Swartz Creek Planning Commission approves the minutes as amended  for 
the April 5, 2016 Planning Commission meeting as printed. 

 
Yes:  Farmer, Florine, Grimes, Krueger, Pinkston, Ridley, Stephens, Conner,   
Culinski.              
No:    None. Motion declared carried. 
 
 

 

City Council Packet 124 May 23, 2016



CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN   
MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMISSION – May 3, 2016  
 

2 
 

 
 
MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC: 
 
None.  
 

BUSINESS: 
 
Public Hearing 
Medical Marijuana Ordinance 
 
Open at 7:16 p.m. 
 
Joel McRee, resident at 5063 Brady, opposed the Medical Marijuana Ordinance. 
 
Closed at 7:20 p.m. 
 
 Resolution No. 160503-03       (Carried) 
 

Motion by Planning Commission Member Conner 
Second by Planning Commission Member Farmer 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek Planning Commission has been considering 
changes to the zoning ordinance as it relates to Medical Marijuana Growing Facilities 
and Medical Marijuana Dispensaries; and 
 
WHEREAS, a public hearing, posted in accordance with state law, was held on May 3, 
2016 for the purpose of hearing persons interested in: 
 

1. A change of the zoning text for Section16.02 to add “medical marijuana 
(marihuana) growing facility” to the list of permissible special land uses in the 
Light Industrial (I-1) zoning district.  

2. Potential Amendments to Section 2.07 Definitions M-N 
3. Potential Amendments to Section 30.09 Special Land Use Specific Requirements 

 
; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing at their regular meeting on 
May 3, 2016. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek Planning Commission 
hereby recommends the Swartz Creek City Council make the following amendments to 
the City of Swartz Creek Code of Ordinances, Appendix A: 
 
 

City Council Packet 125 May 23, 2016



CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN   
MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMISSION – May 3, 2016  
 

3 
 

1. A change of the zoning text for Section16.02 to add “medical 
marijuana (marihuana) growing facility” to the list of permissible special land uses 
in the Light Industrial (I-1) zoning district.  

 
Yes:  Florine, Grimes, Krueger, Pinkston, Ridley, Stephens, Conner,   Culinski, 
Farmer.              
No:    None. Motion declared carried. 
 

Public Hearing 
Master Plan Review 
 
Open at 7:53 p.m. 
 
No comments. 
 
Closed at 7:53 p.m. 
 
Master Plan Update 
    

Resolution No. 160503-04       (Carried) 
 

Motion by Planning Commission Member Krueger 
Second by Planning Commission Member Florine 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek Planning Commission incorporate the comments made in the letter 
from the airport into the master plan thus updating our section making it current. 

 
Yes:  Grimes, Krueger, Pinkston, Ridley, Stephens, Conner,   Culinski, Farmer, 
Florine.              
No:    None. Motion declared carried. 
 

Master Plan Review 
 
Resolution No. 160503-05                 (Carried) 
 
 Motion by Planning Commission Member Krueger 
 Second by Planning Commission Member Conner 
         
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek master plan was last revised on February 10, 
2010; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Michigan Planning Enabling Act requires a plan to be reviewed every 
five years in order to maintain its applicability and maximum legal integrity; and  
 
 
 

City Council Packet 126 May 23, 2016



CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN   
MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMISSION – May 3, 2016  
 

4 
 

 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council directed the planning commission to review and potentially 
revise the master plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the planning commission, after hosting workshops, public meetings, and 
reviewing the existing plan, revised the master plan to include considerations for the 
following: 
 

1. The closure of Sports Creek Raceway 
2. The construction of Meijer 
3. The continued decrease in taxable values and state revenue sharing 
4. Changes in city staffing levels/services 
5. Changes in demographics and economics 
6. Related changes to the city’s land uses and expectations 
;and, 
 

WHEREAS, the planning commission finalized updates and recommended distribution 
of the draft plan at their regular meeting on January 5, 2016, and the city council 
confirmed this distribution on February 8, 2016; and, 
 
WHEREAS, notice has been posted and copies of the master plan have been 
distributed in accordance with state law; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the plan has been approved by the Genesee County Metropolitan Planning 
Commission and a public hearing was held on May 3, 2016. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek Planning Commission 
hereby recommends final approval of the Master Plan by the Swartz Creek City Council 
with the following changes: 
 
1 The title and date of the plan shall be updated to calendar year 2016 throughout the 
document.  
2. Update street proposal results and inclusion of airport comment. 
 

Yes:  Krueger, Pinkston, Ridley, Stephens, Conner, Culinski, Farmer, Florine, 
Grimes.              
No:    None. Motion declared carried. 

 
           
Meeting Open to Public:  
 
No comments .  
 
 
 

City Council Packet 127 May 23, 2016



CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN   
MINUTES OF PLANNING COMMISSION – May 3, 2016  
 

5 
 

 
Remarks By Planning Commission: 
 
Commissioner Krueger mentioned he attended Mr. Terpening’s funeral.  Darrell his son plans 
on continuing plans with the assisted living with no delay.  
 
Commissioner Florine commented he had good conversation with The Terpening’s and they 
were good folks.  
 
Commissioner Ridley questioned of any new information on the race track.  Mr. Zettel 
responded he has none.  
 
Commissioner Conner commented about the properties the city owns in Winchester Woods.   

 
Adjourn                    (Carried) 
 
 Resolution No. 160503-06 
 

Motion by Planning Commission Member Conner 
Second by Planning Commission Member Florine 

 
I Move the Swartz Creek Planning Commission adjourns the May 3, 2016 
Planning Commission meeting. 
 

         Unanimous voice vote, 

      Motion declared carried. 

Meeting adjourned at 8:10 p.m. 
 
 
 
  
Robert T. Florine, 
Secretary 

City Council Packet 128 May 23, 2016



ROWE PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES COMPANY

Lar3e Firm Resources. Persona( Atterxtion. sm

May 18, 2016

Mr. Adam Zettel, City Manager
City of Swartz Creek
8083 Civic Drive

Swartz Creek, MI 48473

Subject: Bid Summary - Elms Park Restrooms

Dear Mr. Zettel:

Enclosed, please find a copy of the bid summary for the above referenced project. All bids were opened
and read at the bid opening on Wednesday, May 18, 2016 and have been reviewed and audited. The "as
read" low bidder, Oak Construction Corporation, remains the audited low bidder for the project with an
alternate bid price of $36,783.

We have worked successfully with Oak Construction Corporation on similar projects in the past and it is
our recommendation to award them the contract for this work.

If you have any questions or need additional information regarding this matter, please feel free to contact
me at (810) 341-7500.

Sincerely,
ROWE Pr@e)sional services company

Louid P. plei
Proj e&t,Man7

, P.E.
:r

Attachment: Bid Summary

R : Proj ectsl 1 4CO2 15 IocslRecommendation Letter. docx

Engineering l Surveying l AerialPhotography/Mapping l LandscapeArchitecture l Planning
Corporate: The ROWE Building, 540 S. Saginaw Street, Ste. 200 a Flint, MI 48502 * O (810) 341-7500 * F (810) 341-7573

With Offices In: Lapeer, MI * Mt. Pleasant, MI * Farmington Hills, MI * Lansing, MI * Grayling, MI * Tri-Cities, MI * Myrtle Beach, SC
www.rowepsc.comCity Council Packet 129 May 23, 2016



TABULATION OF BIDS

OWNER: City of Swartz Creek
PROJECT: Elms Park Restroom Renovations
JOBNO.: 14CO215

DATE: Ma7 18, 2016

Aggk=-. RO? PROFESSIONAL
(? SERVICES COMPANY

R:lProjectsll 4CO21 5?DocsSSpecs or Special ProvisionsSBidtab Page 1 of 1

BASE BID

ALTEFINATE N0.1

(ADD) TOTAL

Oak Construction Corporation $34,893.00 $1 ,sgo.oo $36,783.00

Case Construction Company $39,500.00 $3,050.00 $42,550.00

J. Perez Construction $43,800.00 $7,661 .00 $51 ,461 .00

Castles Brothers, Inc. $49,000.00 $3,800.00 $52,800.00

City Council Packet 130 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 131 May 23, 2016

azettel
Text Box
Plans for illustrative purposes only. Final construction plans may differ.



Ann Arbor

Flint syndrome: Fewer cops, abandoned parks, and why more cities may ... http://www.mlive.com/politics/index.ssf/2016/05/flint_syndrome_fewer_...

1 of 5 5/12/2016 1:46 PM

City Council Packet 132 May 23, 2016



Flint syndrome: Fewer cops, abandoned parks, and why more cities may ... http://www.mlive.com/politics/index.ssf/2016/05/flint_syndrome_fewer_...

2 of 5 5/12/2016 1:46 PM

City Council Packet 133 May 23, 2016



Flint syndrome: Fewer cops, abandoned parks, and why more cities may ... http://www.mlive.com/politics/index.ssf/2016/05/flint_syndrome_fewer_...

3 of 5 5/12/2016 1:46 PM

City Council Packet 134 May 23, 2016



Flint syndrome: Fewer cops, abandoned parks, and why more cities may ... http://www.mlive.com/politics/index.ssf/2016/05/flint_syndrome_fewer_...

4 of 5 5/12/2016 1:46 PM

City Council Packet 135 May 23, 2016



Flint syndrome: Fewer cops, abandoned parks, and why more cities may ... http://www.mlive.com/politics/index.ssf/2016/05/flint_syndrome_fewer_...

5 of 5 5/12/2016 1:46 PM

City Council Packet 136 May 23, 2016



Ann Arbor

Could Flint bail out on KWA water pipeline? | MLive.com http://www.mlive.com/news/index.ssf/2016/05/could_flint_bail_out_on...

1 of 3 5/16/2016 8:09 AM

City Council Packet 137 May 23, 2016



Could Flint bail out on KWA water pipeline? | MLive.com http://www.mlive.com/news/index.ssf/2016/05/could_flint_bail_out_on...

2 of 3 5/16/2016 8:09 AM

City Council Packet 138 May 23, 2016



Could Flint bail out on KWA water pipeline? | MLive.com http://www.mlive.com/news/index.ssf/2016/05/could_flint_bail_out_on...

3 of 3 5/16/2016 8:09 AM

City Council Packet 139 May 23, 2016



1 
 

City of Swartz Creek Budget Summary for Fiscal Year 2016 -2017  

Below is a summary of each Fund for the next budget starting July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017. Attached 
you will find a detailed spreadsheet for each Fund.  

 

101 General Fund  

Most of the General Fund Revenues are from Property Tax Revenues, Public Safety Special Assessment 
and Constitutional Sales Tax. These sources make up about 80% percent of the General Fund Revenue. 
The remainder includes various fees for services including, Building, Zoning and Planning, Park 
Admission Fees, Police Department Fees and reimbursement for a Police officer assigned to Swartz 
Creek Community Schools. This year will be the last year for the special assessment for Springbrook East 
and Heritage Village, amount estimated for 2016-2017 is $30,530.10. We do not expect to see an 
increase in General Fund Revenues in the next few years; we are hoping that revenues will remain 
stable. 

Current Revenues for the General Fund are estimated at $2,410,900. The original budgeted amount for 
2015-2016 revenues was $2,259,665 comparing the estimated amount for 2016-2017, the difference 
can be attributed to the City hall debt reclassification of $59,100 and DNR contribution of approximately 
$45,000 for the Elms Park project and estimated Tot Lot donations of $25,000. The remaining difference 
is about $22,135 which would be about a one percent increase in revenue from last year. The proposed 
budget for fiscal year 2016-2017 would result in a decrease of fund balance in the amount of $63,331.  

Expenses 

Expense lines for wages and benefits will reflect changes for several reasons. Current staff assignments 
were re-evaluated and changes were made among all funds. As of January the cost of medical insurance 
in most of our departments decreased due to the change in BCN plan adopted by the City, however we 
have no idea what the increase may be as of January 1, 2017. Municipal Employees’ Retirement System 
(MERS) has also increased the required contribution for most of the City of Swartz Creek defined benefit 
plans as discussed below.   

For the 2016-2017 fiscal budget we have an increase in the required contribution for the MERS defined 
benefit plan that covers AFSCME and Supervisor Association eligible employees and eligible retirees. 
Currently we have no active employees under the Supervisors Group for MERS defined benefit plan, we 
have two employees that are still active under the MERS AFSCME group, and our 6 full time police 
officers are under the FOP MERS division.   

Last year we were not required to make a contribution for the Supervisors Association, this year the 
required annual contribution is $51,852. The General Fund is responsible for approximately 64% of this 
contribution.   

The AFSCME contribution for fiscal year 2016-2017 increased from $31,284 to $45,996, of this the 
General Fund is responsible for about 49% of this contribution.  

The FOP contribution is directly affected by the gross wages earned by the full time police officers that 
are covered under the MERS defined benefit plan. The City’s current year required contribution was 
19.87%, it will decrease to 16.47% as of July 1st, this is only paid by the General Fund.   The overtime 

City Council Packet 140 May 23, 2016



2 
 

earned by each full time police officer next year will impact the total contribution, especially if it exceeds 
budgeted amounts and also impacts future annual payments.  If the City of Swartz Creek were to come 
to an agreement to form a police authority with Mundy Township, the MERS contribution for FOP would 
be recalculated, we would then adjust our budget to the new required contribution. Once the Police 
Authority is formed more than likely the current pension plan would be closed and a new pension plan 
will be created for the Authority, however the City of Swartz Creek would still be responsible for 
completely funding the current FOP defined benefit plan and also contributing to the new plan 
simultaneously. 

Information provided to us from MERS as of October 15, 2015 reflected the future estimated annual 
contribution to be made by the City of Swartz Creek to cover the unfunded accrued liability is as follows: 

7/1/2016  $162,684 

7/1/2017  $223,940                               $61,256            difference between 2016 & 2017 

7/1/2018  $300,281                               $76,341            difference between 2017 & 2018 

7/1/2019  $384,198                               $83,917            difference between 2019 & 2018 

7/1/2020  $482,091                               $97,893            difference between 2019 & 2020 

7/1/2021  $643,104                              $161,013          difference between 2020 & 2021 

Again it is important to note that these amounts are updated by MERS every year based on a number of 
assumptions, including the actual market investment returns.  

As noted above there is a significant increase in the required contribution from year to year. These 
amounts could change based on employee census, actual earnings by employees, current rate of 
investment returns and changes in assumptions made by the actuary, etc.  In summary we will expect to 
see a considerable increase in required monthly payments to each of these divisions in the next few 
years. With no identifiable increase in revenue it will be difficult to have a balanced budget if the 
payments noted above are accurate, and could result in a decrease in fund balance to meet this 
obligation.  

Expenses other than employee wages and benefits for the most part are very similar to this current year. 
The Executive Department is higher due to funds being appropriated for continued exploration of the 
shared services with Mundy Township. We have also included the MERS payment for the supervisor’s 
division and AFSCME under this department.   

The Elections department has added $12,000 for new election equipment. At this time the Bureau of 
Elections for the State of Michigan has stated that local governmental units will have to contribute to 
the purchase of new election equipment but has not yet selected the equipment, therefore actual costs 
have yet to be determined.  

The department for Elms Park includes the Park renovations and the Tot Lot improvements that are 
scheduled for later this year. At this time we have an estimate of what the City of Swartz Creek may 
have to contribute to these projects, which is reflected in our proposed budget. 

 

City Council Packet 141 May 23, 2016



3 
 

Transfers 

Transfers out from the general fund for the proposed budget are as follows: 

The maximum to be transferred out for Flint Area Narcotics Group (FANG) dues is $7,851 

Transfer out for City Hall debt will be $98,500 (This includes contributions from the General Fund, 
Garbage Fund, Major and Local Street Funds) 

Transfer out to Local Street Fund in the amount of $45,000 

A transfer of $30,000 to the Fire Equipment Fund for future Fire Equipment purchases.  

In summary the General Fund is expected to have a positive Fund balance of $1,560,154 at the end of 
fiscal year June 30, 2016.  

General Fund Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                       $2,410,900 

General Fund Expenses are estimated at                           $2,473,231 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                         ($62,331) 

 Effect on Fund Balance is                                                                             ($62,331) 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                 $1,560,154 

FY 17 change in fund balance                                                            ($62,331) 

Estimated Year End General Fund Balance at June 30, 2017     $1,497,823 

 

202 Major Street Fund  

Over all we expect to see a small increase in revenues for the Major Street Fund. Revenues for both 
Major and Local Street funds are received thru Act. 51. We expect to receive approximately $62,000 
from MDEQ for the Fairchild-Miller/Winston-Miller intersection project. At this time we are proposing a 
transfer of $147,200 into the Local Street Fund. This will decrease the Fund balance for Major Streets as 
noted below.  No major street projects are in the works for the 2016-2017 fiscal year.  Funds support the 
following activities: street reconstruction, routine maintenance of main streets, removal of snow and 
ice, street sweeping, bridge maintenance, maintenance of Miller Rd Park and Ride, maintenance of 
intercommunity storm drains and paint striping of streets and parking lots.  

Major Street Fund Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                       $442,400 

Major Street Fund Expenses are estimated at                                                      $572,200 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                        ($129,800) 

 Effect on Fund Balance a decrease of                             ($129,800)    

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                   $698,665 

      FY 17 Estimated decrease in Fund Balance                 ($129,800) 

Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                      $568,865 

City Council Packet 142 May 23, 2016



4 
 

203 Local Street Fund  

Overall we expect to see a small increase in revenues for the Local Street Fund. Revenues for the Local 
Street Fund are received thru Act 51. At this time we have budgeted a transfer in from the Major Street 
Fund of $147,200 and also a transfer from the General Fund of $45,000. It is important to note that 
some Federal/State Grants require matching funds from Local Units in order to receive these grants. 
Local matches cannot be from ACT 51 monies, only General Fund monies or Local Street levies are 
considered as local matches. 

 Funds support the following activities: street reconstruction, routine maintenance of Local Streets, 
removal of snow and ice, street sweeping and maintenance of Intercommunity storm drains. Expenses 
reflect about 60% of the preservation and preventative maintenance contract for Parkridge and Yarmy 

Local Street Fund Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                               $336,702 

Local Street Fund Expenses are estimated at                                                         $354,192 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                          ($17,490) 

 Effect on Fund Balance is a decrease of                                                    ($17,490) 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                $201,110 

FY 17 Estimated increase in Fund Balance                                    ($17,490) 

  Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                  $183,620 

 

204 Municipal Street Fund    

Revenues from the Street Initiative Proposal passed at the May 3, 2016 special election will be tracked in 
this fund. The summer tax bill will include the $4.22 mil levy. 

Municipal Street Fund 

Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                                               $608,000 

 Expenses are estimated at                                                                                         $            0 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                          $608,000 

 Effect on Fund Balance an increase of                                 $608,000 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                    $           0 

FY 17 Estimated increase in Fund Balance                                        $608,000 

  Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                      $608,000 

 

 

 

City Council Packet 143 May 23, 2016



5 
 

226 Garbage Fund  

The majority of the revenue for the Garbage Fund is from the annual tax levy for garbage. This fund 
provides the revenues for sanitation collection which includes garbage pickup, recycling (Contracted 
Service) and brush chipping. This fund also contributes to the garbage cleanup for other city properties 
such as the parks. 

Garbage Fund Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                       $380,907 

Garbage Fund Expenses are estimated at                           $427,207 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                         ($46,300) 

 Effect on Fund Balance a decrease of                             ($46,300) 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                               $269,603 

FY 17 Estimated decrease in Fund Balance                                  ($46,300) 

Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                   $223,303 

 

248 Downtown Development Fund   

Revenues and expenses are from the capture of tax dollars within the DDA district and grants from 
private entities for family movie night. Expenses cover a variety of services including the façade 
program, developing the properties on Fortino Drive and streetscape improvements/parking additions.  

Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                                             $67,900 

Downtown Development Fund Expenses are estimated at                               $67,730 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                        $     170 

 Effect on Fund Balance an increase of                                                     $     170 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                               $38,306 

FY 17 Estimated increase in Fund Balance                                   $     170 

  Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                 $38,476 

 

265 Drug Enforcement Fund   

Revenues are transferred in from the General Fund and this fund pays for the City of Swartz Creek 
participation in the Flint Area Narcotics Group (FANG).  

Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                                             $   7,851 

 Expenses are estimated at                                                                                       $   7,851 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                        $          0 

City Council Packet 144 May 23, 2016



6 
 

 Effect on Fund Balance an increase of                                                     $         0 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                  $  3,764 

FY 17 Estimated increase in Fund Balance                                      $          0 

  Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                   $   3,764 

 

350 City Hall Debt Fund   

Revenues come in from the General Fund, Garbage Fund, Water and Sewer Fund to meet the annual 
bond payment due for the Construction of City Hall building. Last payment due May 2021. 

City Hall Debt Fund 

Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                                               $98,535 

 Expenses are estimated at                                                                                         $98,000 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                          $      535 

 Effect on Fund Balance an increase of                                                       $      535 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                $  1,662 

FY 17 Estimated increase in Fund Balance                                    $      535 

  Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                  $  2,197 

 

402 Fire Equipment Replacement Fund   

Revenues are transferred in from the General Fund and accumulate for future fire equipment 
replacement.  

Fire Equipment Replacement Fund 

Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                                             $ 30,060 

 Expenses are estimated at                                                                                       $           0 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                        $ 30,060 

 Effect on Fund Balance an increase of                                                      $ 30,060 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                   $ 50,131 

FY 17 Estimated increase in Fund Balance                                       $ 30,060 

  Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                     $ 80,191 

 

 

City Council Packet 145 May 23, 2016



7 
 

590 Water Fund  

The majority of revenues are collected from the readiness to serve fees that are charged, there is also a 
commodity charge based on the water usage of each customer. At this time we expect to receive 
another increase thru the Genesee County Drain Commission. For the most part, these rate increases 
are a result of increases that the Great Lakes Water Authority (GLWA) has passed along to their water 
customers. The GLWA has yet to announce the amount of any proposed increases once the 
announcement is made the Water Fund budget will have to be amended based on the rate increase.  
This current budget does not reflect any funding for future capital improvements. The current budget 
has an estimated depreciation expense of $189,000, when we deducted this amount the fund is 
budgeted to be in a deficit of $3,040.  

Water Fund Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                                             $1,829,950 

Water Fund Expenses are estimated at                                                                    $2,021,990** 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                           ($192,040)** 

** INCLUDES DEPRECIATION EXPENSE OF $189,000 

 Effect on Fund Balance a decrease of                                                         ($192,040) 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                $ 6,066,822 

FY 17 Estimated decrease in Fund Balance                                   ($192,040) 

  Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                  $ 5,874,782 

 591 Sewer Fund  

The majority of revenues are collected from the readiness to serve fees that are charged on every 
account, there is also a commodity charged based on the water usage of each customer. At this time it is 
unlikely that we will receive any rate increase from Genesee County Water and Waste.  

We continue with the project of flushing and TVing sewers as well as repairs and maintenance of the 
City’s sewer system. Our current contractor is Liqui-Force.  We have budgeted for the Cappy Lane lift 
station repairs, estimated cost for this project is $301,000. Estimated depreciation expense of $248,000, 
when deducted results in a budget deficit of $291,759. 

Sewer Fund Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                        $1,289,230 

Sewer Fund Expenses are estimated at                            $1,828,989** 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                          ($539,759)** 

** INCLUDES DEPRECIATION EXPENSE OF $248,000 

 Effect on Fund Balance a decrease of                                                        ($539,759) 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                  $6,961,451 

FY 17 Estimated decrease in Fund Balance                                      ($539,759)  

Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                     $6,421,692 

City Council Packet 146 May 23, 2016



8 
 

 

661 Motor Pool Fund  

Revenues are collected from several departments which include the General Fund, Garbage Fund, Major 
and Local Street Funds, Water and Sewer Funds for any vehicles/equipment used for department 
activities. The Motor Pool Fund covers insurance for all vehicles, regular repairs and maintenance of 
vehicles and City equipment, and the purchase of vehicles and equipment for the Department of Public 
Services and Police Department. The 2016-2017 budget includes the purchase of a small excavator for 
the Department of Public Works.  

Motor Pool Fund Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                                $277,820 

Motor Pool Fund Expenses are estimated at                                                           $261,301 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                            $16,519 

 Effect on Fund Balance an increase of                                                         $16,519 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                  $316,460 

FY 17 Estimated increase in Fund Balance                                      $  16,519 

  Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                   $332,979 

 

865 Sidewalks Fund  

Revenues and expenses cover the sidewalk repair program and also the cost of snow and ice removal 
from City of Swartz Creek Sidewalks per city ordinance. 

Sidewalk Fund Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                                $ 10,000 

Sidewalk Fund Expenses are estimated at                                                               $   9,500 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                           $     500 

 Effect on Fund Balance an increase of                                                        $    500 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                  $ 2,296 

FY 17 Estimated increase in Fund Balance                                      $     500 

  Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                   $  2,796 

 

866 Weed Fund  

Revenues and expenses are from the enforcement of the City of Swartz Creek Weed Ordinance. 

  Weed Fund  Revenues for FY 2017 are estimated at                               $    7,800 

Weed Fund Expenses are estimated at                                                                  $    1,640 

City Council Packet 147 May 23, 2016



9 
 

    Net of Revenues/Appropriations                                                                        $  6,160 

 Effect on Fund Balance an increase of                                                    $   6,160 

Estimated Fund Balance as of June 30, 2016                                 $  20,750 

FY 17 Estimated increase in Fund Balance                                     $    6,160 

  Estimated Year End Fund Balance at June 30, 2017                  $  26,910 

 

 

The City of Swartz Creek currently has these long-term liabilities; 

MERS unfunded liability as of report dated for the period of December 15, 2014 for all defined 
contribution pensions, active and retired employees in the amount of $1,000,142.  

Unfunded liability for Retiree Health care cost as of June 30, 2015 estimated at $1,805,763. 

City Hall Bond Payment (Swartz Creek Building Authority Bonds Series 2001) last payment due May 1, 
2021 balance as of June 30, 2016 $463,425  

Genesee County Sanitary Sewer Disposal System Bonds Series 2006 payments made by the Sewer Fund, 
last payment will be November 2026, balance as of June 30, 2016  $619,335.75 

 

 

 

City Council Packet 148 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 149 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 150 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 151 May 23, 2016



City Council Packet 152 May 23, 2016


	2016-05-23, Council Mtg Template
	TO:  Honorable Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tem & Council Members
	ROUTINE BUSINESS – REVISITED ISSUES / PROJECTS

	2016-05-09 May 09 Council Minutes
	Salt Bid
	Utility Rates FY17 RTS ed-Rate Calc
	Utility Rates FY17 RTS ed-Fixed Sewer
	412754 City of Swartz Creek Sequoia Mailer
	412754_Swartz Creek MI SQA_LE draft_050616
	Miller Elms Wireless Lease Agreement, Endorsed
	20160519165921
	Sunoco Bid Specifications
	2013-2016 SCFB Agreement
	Woods bids
	Woods Map
	Woods Specs
	2016-May 12- Minutes DDA
	ZBA minutes 05-18-16
	Minutes 5-3-16
	CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN

	Elms Bid Rec
	SC Unisex
	Flint syndrome
	KWA News
	Budget Summary 2016 -2017
	CMS 6-2
	CMS 6-6



